-		
	~ ~ ~	
	220	
<b>A</b> 1 <b>i</b>	<i>L.L.</i> U	
. <b>T</b> V		



1

National Library of Canada

Bibliothäure nationale du Canada

3

CARADIAN THESES 

1 -

THESES CANADIENNES SUL INCROFICHE

Y.

	HELENT.LEW	
NAME OF AUTHOR/NON DE L'AUTEL	1 +	
TITLE OF THESIS/TITRE DE LA THÈSE		TION OF THE EFFECT OF.
. ·	AUDIENCE ON	THE ORAL LANGUAGE OF
<b>#</b>	MIDDLE ELEME	NTARY SCHOOL CHILDREN,
	VERSITY OF A	LBERTA
DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRE GRADE POUR LEQUEL CETTE THES	SENTED/ E FUT PRÉSENTÉE	1 Ed
YEAR THIS DEGREE CONFERRED/ANA	VEE D'OUTENTION DE CE GRADE	1978
NAME OF SUPERVISOR NOM DU DIR	ecteur de thèse <u>DR</u>	P. MEFETRIDUE.
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Permission is hereby granted to	the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF	L'autorisation est, per la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÉ-
CANADA to microfilm this thesi	s and to lend or sell copies	QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et
of the film.		de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.
The author reserves other public	cation rights, and neither the	L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la
thesis nor extensive extracts fro	 mit may be printed or other	thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent âtre imprimés
wise reproduced without the auth	oc's written permission.	ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.
	·	
DATED / DA TE Ung 3	1978_signed/signe	N. J. Xewis
	J	
PERMANENT ADDRESS/RÉSIDENCE FI	6	
<b>`</b>	- Colmo	•
	alle	sta T6H 4X9.

**||+**,

National Library of Canada -

Cataloguing Branch Canadian Theses Division

Ottaws, Canada K1A 0N4

## NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Préviously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Beproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

# THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED

Bibliothèque nationale du Caneda

Direction du Catalogage Division des thèses canadiennes

## **AVIS**

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la e qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout, fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont-été dactylographées à l'aide d'un ruban usé du si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'abjet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de comicrofilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur. GRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre cognaissance des farmules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

> LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFIL MÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

## THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

## AN INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECT OF AUDIENCE ON THE ORAL LANGUAGE OF MIDDLE ELEMENTARY

SCHOOL CHILDREN

by



HELEN T. LEWIS

## A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE + OF MASTER OF EDUCATION

DEPARTMENT OF ELEMENTARY EDUCATION

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

FALL, 1978

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

1 1

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled An Investigation of the Effect of Audience on the Oral Language of Middle Elementary School Children submitted by Helen T. Lewis in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Éducation.

Dam' Detriege Supervisor

P.A. Fayne J.E. dite

Date July 26, 19.78

#### ABSTRACT

Theorists from diverse fields have identified the audience (or addressee) as a vital component of any "communication struction." Noreover, this relationship between speaker and spoken-to the thought by many to play an importance rate in language development has have one have a differential effect on children from different social backgrounds. Very little data, however, seem to exist which substantiate (or refute) these theories.

The purpose of this study was thus to investigate whether middle elementary school children do modify their language as a function of audience and, if so, whether differences occur in the modifications made by children of different socio-economic backgrounds.

The sample consisted of one group of 15 grade four girls of high socia-economic status and another group of 15 grade four girls of low socio-economic status.

Each of the subjects spoke on the same topic to three different audiences: peer, grade six girl and unfamiliar adult. The subjects met the audiences on a one-to-one basis and in a randomized order. Responses were recorded and transcribed verbatim.

Two distinct forms of analysis were employed. Firstly, twoway analyses of variance (with repeated measures on Factor B) were performed on the subjects' scores for the chosen syntactic measures and on the duration of their responses. Secondly, all intra-subject differences in the language protocols, which occurred as a function of audience, were recorded and categorized.

The results of the statistical analysis indicated a significant

ť٧

interaction effect between secto-aconomic status and dudjence regarding setting usages the signifteent results, however, were published for maze and pronoun usage. Results also indicated a significant difference between the gue groups on the duration of

The results of the descriptive analysis indicated the existence of five categories of change. Altipugh the emount of change exhibited by the two groups was similar, a difference was evident in the kinds of change identified for each group.

The findings of this exploratory study suggest that although further investigation of the relationship between audience and the syntactic measures chosen by the investigator would not be worthwhile, the categories of change formulated do warrant future study. Moreover, the tendency of the two groups to perform most similarly with the grade six audience and least similarly with the unfamiliar adult audience indicates a need for further investigation of the nature of the relationship between audience, socio-economic status and oral language.

## ACINIONLEDGEMENTS

The writer wishes to express her sincere thanks to those many people whose assistance and encouragement made the try

possible.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ONAPTER	PN	<b>3</b> 2
ή.	STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	•1
· _ 、	THE BURPOSE OF THE STUDY	4
	RESEALCH QUESTIONS	4
`	DEFINITION OF TERMS USED IN THE STUDY	5
``	DESIGN OF THE STUDY	5
-	PROCEDURE	7
	TREATMENT OF THE DATA	7
	LIMITATIONS	, <b>7</b>
	THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY	8
2.	REVIEW OF THE RELATED LITERATURE AND RATIONALE	9
•	·INTRODUCTION	9
	SECTION I: THEORIES OF THE EFFECT OF AUDIENCE ON LANGUAGE PRODUCTION	10
	Werner and Kaplan	10
	Vygotsky	15
	Piaget	16
•	James Moffett	19
	Basil Bernstein	20
	Joan Tough	24
`	Summary of Section I	26
	SECTION II: A REVIEW OF STUDIES OF THE EFFECT ` • OF AUDIENCE ON LANGUAGE PRODUCTION	27
	Studies of Egocentrism (or Decentring)	27
	Sociolinguistic Studies	33
	Studies Based on the Distancing Hypothesis	35

76	۵
ΤĒ	<b>R</b>

З

4.

•	•						
, Summary of Section II	• • •	• •	· •	•••	•	••	35
REVIEN OF THE CHAPTER	••	••	•	• •	•	••	36
DESIGN OF THE STUDY		• •	•	•••	•	•••	38
SELECTION OF THE SAMPLE :		• •	•	••	•	••	. 30
INSTRUMENTATION	• •	••	•	••	•	••	. 39
THE AUDIENCES			•	••	•	••	42
TESTING PROCEDURES FOR THE STUDY		• •	•	•••	•		43
TREATMENT OF THE DATA			•	•••	•	•••	46
General Questions		•••	•	•••	•	••	47
Analysis			•	• ••	•		. 47
Statistical Analysis		••	•	• ••	•		47
Descriptive Analysis	• •		•	•••	•	•••	49
RELIABILITY OF THE CATEGORIES FOR THE RESPONSES	SCO	RING		:.	•	••	50
PILOT STUDY	••		•	• •			50
SUMMARY			•	••	•	•••	52
THE FINDINGS			•	• يكم	•		53
INTRODUCTION		* <b>∉</b> *	•	•••	•	••	53
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS		••	•		·	••	53
Clause Usage		••	•	•••	•		53
The Use of Pronouns	• •		•		•		56
The Use of Mazes					•		59
Duration of Response			•	••	•		59
DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS		• •	•		•	•	59
Change in the Information Given			•	• •	•		64
Change in the Degree of Explici		s 	•	•••	•		69

PAGE

			•	•
CHAPTER			•	PAGE
	Change in the Quality Expressi	lon	• • • • •	72
** · · ·	Change in the Degree of Generalit	<b>y</b> .'		75
	Change in the Mood of the Verb .		• • • • •	76
	SYNTHESIS	· · · · ·		79
•	Question One	••••		79
	Question Two	• • • • •		81
5.	SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS	5		83
	SUMMARY	• • • •		83
	FINDINGS	••••		84
•	Statistical Analysis	<b>\</b>	• • • • •	84
	Descriptive Analysis	• • • •	• • • • •	84
<b>~</b> .	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER STUDY	{ · · · · <i>,</i>	· · · · · ·	85
	Question One	••••	• • • • •	85
·	Question Two	••••		85
	IMPLICATIONS Z	• • • •		86
BIBLIOGR/	АРНУ	••••		88
APPENDIX	: A SAMPLE LANGUAGE PROTOCOL	· • • • •		93

ix

## LIST OF TABLES

1

TABLE		١		PI	MEE	
<b>`1.</b>	Summery of Speech Cherecteristics Hypothesized by Werner and Kaplan, Vygetsky, Pleget and Springerin	• •	••	•	<b>10</b>	
2.	IQ and Age Distribution of Low SES Sample	••	• •	•	40	
3.	IQ and Age Distribution of High SES Sample	• •	••••	•	41	
4.	Randomized Sequence of Audience Given to Each Subject	• •	•••	• •	45	•
5.	Two-Way Analysis of Variance (SES, Audience) of Mean Number of Math Clauses	·••	• •	•	54	;
6.	Two-Way Analysis of Variance (SES, Audience) of Use of Anaphoric Pronouns		• •	•	57	د
7.	Two-Nay Analysis of Variance (SES, Audience) of Use of Edit Mazes	•••		•	60	
8.	Two-Way Analysis of Variance (SES, Audience) of Mean Duration of Responses	••	•••	•	62	
.9.	Distribution of Changes Throughout the Categori	es	••	•	65	

 $\mathbf{G}$ 

x

## LIST OF FIGURES

#### FROME

The Bratancing Processes				
Weinse Representation of the Rull Searce of Rein Clauses	,		2 V	*
of Neta Clauses	• •	• • •	••	- 55
Greekit Representation of the Mean Scores of Anaphoric Prensuns	, , ,		••	58
Graphic Representation of the Mean Scores of Edit Mazes			•	7)
Graphic Representation of the Mean Durati of Conversations	ons	• • •	• •	63

Society exists because non have language: condequently exploring language connet stop at the boundaries of language, but must go on to look at the social content which makes the activity of languaging meaningful.

xii

(Doughty, 1972, p. 63)

## Chapter 1

## STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

In the past language tended to be viewed in terms of a simple dichotomy—words and expressions were either correct or incorrect. Today, however, theorists such as Bruner (1966), Gahagan and Gahagan (1970) and Wilkinson (1971) would agree with McFetridge (1969).that:

There is nothing in the language that is inherently correct, and we can speak only of the need to use language appropriately. (p. 2)

The "appropriateness) of a communication depends, of course, on the "communication situation" which itself comprises a number of components, each of which, in turn, may affect language production. The identification of these components has interested theorists in diverse fields (see Hymes, 1972). Ervin-Tripp (1968), Fishman (1971), Hymes (1972) and Wilkinson (1971) are but a few who attempt to formulate some schema (or model) of speech acts. The components identified show a greater or lesser degree of elaboration, depending on the concern of the author. Wilkinson (1971), for example, identifies four principal elements in any communication situation, namely an addressor, an addressee, a subject and a context. Hymes (1972), on the other hand, identifies no fewer than 16 components which he groups under the mnemonic S-P-E-A-K-I-N-G (Setting, Participants, Ends, Act, Sequences, Keys, Instrumentalities, Norms and Genres).

Whatever their concern, however, one vital element of the speech act which all theorists identify is that of audience or

addressee. As Moffett (1975) points out:

There is no speech without a speaker in some relation to a spoken-to.

Many theorists point to this relationship between speaker and spoken-to as being of prime importance in language development. Harris (1975) maintains that our understanding of language learning "remains impoverished until descriptive acts are placed within the setting of social and productive interaction." He says:

> Linguistic structures are, strictly speaking, the synthesis of this interaction of speaker/ listener (Harris, 1975, p. 84)

The theories of Werner and Kaplan (1967), Vygotsky (1962), Piaget (1948) and Moffett (1968) all suggest, in their **D**im way, that development along the language growth continua (implicit—explicit, specific—general, fluency—control, concrete—abstract) is due to the gradual distancing of the child and his audience—from self, to mothering one, to pears, to "generalized others." As the psychological distance increases between addressor and addressee there is a need for the language employed in communication to become more explicit and more general, a modification which, according to Bernstein, the restricted code user does not make.

Despite this theoretical importance placed on audience, however, very little data seem to exist which substantiate (or refute) these theories.

Although many sociolinguists, for example, point to the importance of audience in the communication situation (Hymes, 1972; Ervin-Tripp, 1968) and even to its importance when studying the language of different subcultures or social classes (Cazden, 1970)

most sociolinguistic research has focussed on a bilingual situation (e.g., Greenfield, 1972) or has varied the whole of the communication situation along a formal-informal dimension rather than concentrating solely on the effect of audience (e.g., Labov, 1970).

The most fruitful area for studies which have taken account of the role of audience appears to be the research into Piaget's  $\simeq$ notion of egocentrism. By and large, however, these studies have focussed on the pre-school child, despite the assertion of Flavell et al. (1968) that in middle childhood "widespread changes in role-` taking and communication skills" are taking place. Even those studies which have taken a developmental approach have "artificially" distanced the audience by means of a screen, or blind-fold, or have used a photograph to represent the audience rather than a real person (Flavell et al., 1968; Krauss & Glucksberg, 1977). Moreover, the question of how the child modifies his language as a function of audience has tended to be regarded as of secondary importance. The question of whether a child modifies his language and whether this modification increases with age, has taken precedence in studies of this sort. The question of whether sociological background affects the ability to modify language as a function of audience appears to have been ignored.

In sum, then, although theorists are in general agreement that audience is a vital factor affecting the appropriateness of communication, no research can be found which examines the effect of audience on the language of children in the middle elementary school. Moreover, despite an abundance of comparisons of the language of

)

children from different sub-cultures or socio-economic backgrounds, there does not appear to be any evidence as to whether audience has a differential effect on the language of children from different backgrounds.

## THE PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of the study was to investigate the following general questions:

i. In what ways, if any, do middle elementary school chite modify their language as a function of an increasingly remote audience?

2. Can differences be discerned in the modifications made (as a function of audience) in the oral language of middle elementary school children of different socio-economic backgrounds?

## RESEARCH QUESTIONS

Tough (1977) warns of

the dangers of interpreting results that are obtained when linguistic measures are used without close examination of the demands of the situations in which the language samples were gathered. (p. 165)

She maintains that a descriptive analysis should be conducted to complement a more objective form of analysis, the value of the descriptive mode lying in "the insights that it provides when inferences are being drawn from more objective data" (Tough, 1977, p. 154).

Thus, for purposes of analysis, the general questions which the present study sought to investigate were refined to form the following specific research questions:

## Question One .

Does audience have a significant effect on the oral language responses of the subjects as witnessed in:

a. the following syntactic measures:

clause usage

pronoun usage

## mize usage

b. the duration of the response?

Question Two

Does audience have a differential effect on the language produced by subjects of high and low socio-economic status, as witnessed in the above measures?

Question Three

What categories of change (if any) occur in the subjects' oral language to accommodate for an increasingly remote audience?  $\varphi$ 

Question Four

Do differences exist between the high and low socio-economic groups in the kinds of changes which are made as a function of audience?

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS USED IN THE STUDY

<u>Addressor</u> - the person with whom a communication originates. Audience/Addressee - these two terms are used synonymously in this

study and refer to the person/persons to whom a communication

is is addressed

High and Low Socio-Sconomic Status (SEST - No established anasure was used to determine the subjects' SEL rather administrative personnel of the Edupaton Public School Board chose schools which they assessed as being representative of a contain type of community.

> It should be noted that the study does not "house that the two groups chosen represent so-called "restricted" and "elaborated" code users.

## DESIGN OF THE STUDY

The sample comprised two groups of 15 girls. The subjects were drawn from four schools within the Edmonton Public School system. Administrative personnel of the Edmonton Public School Board identified two of the schools as serving a high socio-economic community and two of them as serving a low socio-economic community. Thus, one group of subjects was drawn from a population of high socio-economic status (SES), and the other group was drawn from a population of low SES.

The criteria for selection of the subjects were:

a. an IQ score within the range 101-120, as measured by the Canadian Test of Cognitive Abilities.

b. age between 9 years 6 months and 10 years 2 months.

c. English as the first language of all subjects.

#### ROCEDURE

The responses were recorded and then transcribed verbatim. A pilot study tested the suitability of the topic of conversation prior to the investigation.

### TREATMENT OF THE DATA

All intra-subject differences in the language protocols which occurred as a function of audience were recorded and categorized.

Two-way analysis of variance (Factor A being SES and Factor B being audience), with repeated measures on Factor B, were performed on the subjects' scores for the chosen syntactic measures and on the duration of their responses.

## LIMITATIONS

The following factors limit the interpretation of the findings:

1. Responses were elicited in a testing situation and may have been influenced by the presence of a tape recorder.

2. The sample was limited in both size and age and thus generalizations cannot be made.

3. Although the effect of practice as a confounding variable was eliminated from the analysis by randomizing the order in which the subjects pet the audiences, some subjects might have found it boring to repeat the same content to all three audiences.

## THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY

A communication situation of any Hind is made up of a number of elements and, of course, "the language which comes out arises from the contributions of the various elements, and will vary from situation to situation" (Wilkinson, 1971, p. 37).

So often, however, our, language arts programs fail to consider the components of communication in any systematic way. Even if we offer our pupils a variety of situations, rarely do we juxtapose the elements of those situations in any new or challenging way, thereby perhaps limiting the students' potential use of language.

In investigating the implications of the literature and research for one component of communication (namely audience) the present study is of potential significance in the future planning of instruction, curriculum development and further research.

## REVIEW OF THE RELATED LITERATURE AND RATIONALE

Chapter 2 -

### INTRODUCTION

Many theorists (see, for example, Ervin-Tripp, 1968; Fishman 1971; Hymes, 1972; Wilkinson, 1971) identify the addressee or audience as a vital component of any communication situation. According to certain psychologists the addressee plays a vital role in language development, and implicit in the writings of Bernstein is the suggestion that restricted code users do not modify their language as a function of audience. However, by and large, research on the language of children in the middle elementary school has treated the language producer as a distinct entity, separate from and unaffected by, any situational variables. The present study attempts to investigate the effect of one such situational variable, namely the audience.

This chapter outlines the framework for the study.

Section I explores theories of the effect of audience on language production which have influenced the investigator. The section begins with a discussion of Werner and Kaplan's distancing hypothesis, the ideas of which are central to the present study. Although in many ways representing diverse views, relevant aspects of the work of both Vygotsky and Piaget are also discussed. The fourth study presented, that of James Moffett, represents a slightly different

approach. Although Moffett is an educational theorist rather than a psychologist, he, too, sees the 'distance' between addressor and addressee as having a vital effect on Tanguage production. A discussion of Bernsteip's work in terms of Werner and Kaplan's distancing hypothesis follows Moffett's theory. This comparison serves to bring out that which is only implicit in Bernstein's work, namely that a restricted code is not restricted primarily in terms of linguistic structure, but in terms of the audience for whom it is appropriate.

The section concludes with a discussion of the work of Joan Tough. Although Tough is no theorist, her work is included because of the importance which she places on audience in the interpretation of her findings.

Studies which have examined the variable of audience are cited in Section II. Most of these studies are concerned with Piaget's notion of egocentrism or decentring and provide a necessary background to the present study.

Concluding the chapter is a review of Sections I and II in terms of the purpose of this study.

## SECTION I: THEORIES OF THE EFFECT OF AUDIENCE ON LANGUAGE PRODUCTION

## Werner and Kaplan

Kaplan is an organismic-developmental one:

We hold that analysis should not be directed toward an organism in isolation, but an organism embedded in its own vital field or "umwelt." (Werner and Kaplan, 1967, p. 5)

Thus, symbol (or language) development should be viewed not merely in terms of the language producer but in terms of four principal components: two persons—an addressor and an addressee—the object of reference or the referent, and the symbolic vehicle employed in referential representation. In the course of development, each of these principal components comprising symbol-situations undergoes change and become related to each other in different ways. Werner and Kaplan maintain that in the course of development there is a progressive distancing or polarization between person and object of reference, between person and symbolic vehicle, between symbolic vehicle and object and then central to the whole process is the distancing between the persons in the communication situation, that is, the addressor and addressee.

The theory is presented graphically in Figure 1, where the four distancing processes, hypothesized by Werner and Kaplan, are marked.





The process begins with the "primordial sharing situation" which takes place between child and mothering one. The very young child is viewed as an egocentric being in the sense that he cannot differentiate between himself and his environment. The process of differentiation (known as distantiation) for the child is only gradual and is a process in which language plays a key role.

٢.

at in

×...

12

The first "distancing" process which takes place is that between child ("addressor" on the diagram) and the objects (referents) of his environment. Gradually the child comes to realise that objects exist apart from himself and so he begins to point at them and later to name them when they are not even present.

Analagous to the increasing polarization between person and object, the person and symbolic vehicle he employs for representation also become increasingly differentiated from each other. In practical terms this distancing is witnessed in the child's early idiosyncratic expressions which have meaning only to himself and, perhaps, his mother. Gradually, however, these terms are displaced by those which have a more "public" meaning.

> At genetically later stages of symbol formation, the inter-personal vehicle is more or less freed of private and idiosyncratic connotations and serves to represent relatively the same content for the communicants. (Werner & Kaplan, 1963, p. 46)

The third "distancing process" which takes place during development is that between symbolic vehicle and referential object. At first the symbol and object are treated as one and the same thing. Vygotsky (1962) illustrates this phenomenon when he describes an experiment in which children are first told that cows are to be called dogs and then asked if dogs have horns. It was found that only at advanced stages does the child outgrow the phenomenon of word realism (Thereby word and phject are thought to be one and the same), and come to realise that the symbolic vehicle is arbitrary and has no "thing-like" status.

The fourth and finel "distancing process" is seen by Werner and Kaplan as being all-important and is the gradual distancing which takes place between addressor and addressee. This increase in interpersonal distance is a highly significant factor in the development of symbolization. As mentioned earlier, the very young child does not differentiate himself from others-he is a "we" not an "I." Hence his language is idiosyncratic and its meaning implicit as he assumes a shared context with the person to whom he is speaking. This phenomenon is particularly noticeable in the language of twins who often develop a form of language unique to them. We until quite a late stage of development. As the child begins to appreciate the distance which exists between himself and others, his audience (or addressee) gradually changes from mothering one, to peers, to generalised other. Hence his language develops in order to cope with this /increasing distance between himself and his audience. We may, in fact, imagine language as a bridge, a link between one person and another. If the person being addressed is "near," in other words shares the same context, then the bridge does not need to be particularly "strong." Hence a mother understands a child's holophrases and a husband understands a wife's "elliptical" references. If, however, the addressee is "distant" then in order for the interpersonal distance

to be spended effectively, the structure of the "bridge" is of supreme importance. No longer can language by idlesyncratic and meaning implicit if effective communication is to be achieved.

In sin, then, Werner and Kaplan maintain that these four polarizations

а 1

14

beer all-importantly on the autonomization of symbols, that is, on the development toward a system of vehicles which enables a person to communicate adequately with an audience psychologically quite distant from the addressor. (Merner & Kaplan, 1963, p. 49)

An experiment which was carried out by Luria and Yudovitch provides a practical example of the implications of the distancing hypothesis for language development.

Luria and Yudovitch (1959) chose for their subjects a pair of five-year-old twins whose social speech was severely retarded but, like many twins, they communicated adequately with one another. The children were separated and placed in a normal social environment and after only ten months, there was a marked difference between their other-directed and self-directed speech. After only three months of separation, comprehensibility increased from 17% to 89% in Twin A and from 22% to 81% in twin B; after ten months of separation, comprehensibility was perfect (100%) for both twins (Luria and Yudovitch, 1959, p. 65). There was also a concomitant improvement in sentence structure. Werner and Kaplan (1967) meintain that.

> the principal factor underlying the remarkable change in sentence organization was the increase in "distance" between addressor and addressee. (p. 320)

Werner and Kaplan, however, are not alone in recognising that the whole process of development is one of increasing individualisation.

14

in the sense that only through an increasing awareness of self does the child develop a need to make communication more explicit.

#### Vygotsky

The Russian psychologist Vygotsky, for example, also sees development as a process of individualisation which, he believes, is reflected in the structure and function of speech (Vygotsky, 1962, p. 133).

In the early pre-school years speech is at once private and social, with no real differentiation between speech for self and speech for others. "All of [a child's] speech is overt and equally personal and public in orientation" (Flavell/et al., 1968, p. 20). Thus Vygotsky talks of the distancing during development between these two speech forms (inner and external speech).

> The fusion of the two planes of speech, semantic and vocal, begins to break down as the child grows older and the distance between them gradually increases. (Vygotsky, 1962, p. 129)

Since inner and external speech subserve distinctive functions—inner speech serving thought and external speech serving social communication—a gradual polarization occurs of the characteristics of each type. Whereas social (external) speech becomes progressively more elaborate and complex as mastery of the language increases, in inner speech there is a tendency towards predication. Thus, inner speech appears to be largely made up only of the "key words" of external speech. As Flavell et al. point out, if this really is the form of private speech, it is obvious why egocentric > speech is so unlikely to meet the listener's informational requirements. They say:

Vygotsky's conceptions . . . point up the wide gulf which is liable to exist between speaker and listener, with the corollary that the everyday business of bridging this gulf in adult communication entails no mean\_skill. (Flavell et al., 1968, p. 21)

Vygotsky is careful to point out, however, that communications : approximating to inner speech are not restricted to childhood but are, in fact, common among people who "live in close psychological contact," such as a husband and wife.

Piaget

Piaget is another psychologist for whom the addressee (or audience) plays a significant role in language development.

Piaget believes that the speech of young children is mainly ego Fric because the child does not know to whom he is speaking, nor whether he is being listened to. He talks either for himself or for the pleasure of associating anyone who happens to be there with the activity of the moment—"he does not attempt to place himself at the point of view of the hearer" (Piaget, 1948, p. 32). This occurs, Piaget believes, because:

> throughout the time when he is learning to speak the child is constantly the victim of a confusion between his own point of view and that of other people. (Piaget, 1948, p. 39)

Even at the age\_of  $6\frac{1}{2}$  years the egocentric language of Piaget's subjects amounted to "nearly half of their total spontaneous speech" (Piaget,  $\frac{1}{2}$ 948, p. 57).

Thus Piaget contrasts the child and the mature language user, maintaining that the adult, even in his most personal and private **16** /

occupation, thinks socially. He "has continually in his mind's eye his collaborators or opponents, actual or eventual" (Piaget, 1948, p. 59). The child, on the other hand, although he talks almost incessantly to his neighbours, rarely places himself at their point of view. He speaks to them for the most part as if he were thinking aloud. Piaget sums up:

> To put it quite simply, we may say that the adult thinks socially, even when he is alone, and that the child under seven thinks ego-centrically even in the society of others. (Piaget, 1948, p. 60)

To recapitulate, Werner and Kaplan, Vygotsky, and Piaget all visualize an early stage of language development where communication is egocentric and idiosyncratic. Mature language, on the other hand, is more elaborate and takes into account the listener's perspective. Moreover, according to Vygotsky and Werner and Kaplan, egocentric communications occur in maturity where the addressee is perceived as being psychologically "close." Details of the speech characteristics hypothesized by these theorists are contained in Table 1.

The next two theorists whose work is discussed are different from the preceding ones in so far as they are not psychologists and do not deal with language development per se. Moffett, an educator, suggests some effects that audience might have on language production while Bernstein, a sociolinguist, implies a differential ability to modify language as a function of audience, according to one's sociological background. Concluding the section is a discussion of the work of Joan Tough who also suggests that audience is an important variable in the communication situation and one which may differentiate

17

Wilkinson, 1971, pp. 136-137 Adjectives and adverbs rigid 239 Piaget, 1948 redundancy, dystaxia, agglutinative often by phonological means Vygotsky, 1962 understand from the outset what they are - Inaccuracy of qualifying words (p. 119) Werner and Kaplan, 1967, p. Communicates attitude: ("mnor<del>em</del>ic" spèech form etc.) or holophrastic organisation - They assume that their hearer will characterize the tendency to predication which appears in external speech" between people who "live in close psychological contact." (p. 141) Incompleteness (ellipses). "a simplified syntax, condensation, and a greatly reduced number of words (e.g. Joudness) and limited. Summary of Speech Characteristics Hypothesized by Werner and Kaplan, Vygotsky, Piaget and Bernstein talking about (p. 121) and cliche, socio-centric External Speech which approximates to inner speech: Collocations - idiom sense of words Shared Context Domination by (dynamically fluctuating) phrases. Assumed Table 1 the exemplar completely forgets to Large proportion of cases in which name the objects which he is - Lack of precision (p. 116) Idiomatic Referents urfinished, loose syntax, grammatically simpler, explaining (p. 121) Meaning is implicit. few subordinations. Sentences shorter, condensation. Laconicity, ("Hints") Multiple Meaning 1 Restricted Code Egocentric Bernstein Werner and Speech Kaplan <u>Vygotsky</u> Speech Inner Inner Speech Piaget

63

between children of different sociological background.

## James Moffett

James Moffett not only recognises the importance of audience in a communication situation but he also believes that the curriculum should be built around a gradually increasing distance between addressor and subject and between addressor and addressee. These two distancing processes he calls "abstracting"—abstracting <u>from</u> the referent and abstracting <u>for</u> the subject—neither of which, he maintains, "exists apart from the other" (Moffett, 1968, p. 32).

According to Moffett (1968),

one performs the same activities in pitching a subject to an audience as one does in extracting that subject from raw phenomena: one selects and reorganizes traits of things, digests, codes preferentially. (p. 31)

By "gradually pushing the persons apart" (or by a gradual process of "decentring") Moffett believes that we encourage the student to "play the symbolic scale," or in Hayakawa's terms, to move freely up and down the "abstraction ladder." For Moffett, the process is reflected in the student's movement through the four owders of discourse—drama (or description), narrative, exposition, logical argumentation—which may be represented by recording, reporting, generalizing and theorizing. He illustrates the whole progression by comparing an eye-witness account of what is happening before the guillotine, with an eye-witness account of what happened one day during the French Revolution, with an historical generalization about the Reign of Terror, with a political scientist's theory about revolutions starting right and moving left. Each level represents a series of choices until we end with a "summary of summaries." The first level of discourse is the recording of an experience for oneself. Moffett says this is a "verbal stream," a quantity of detail from which later choices will be made. As the audience moves from self to friend, particular words are chosen, sentences constructed and parts organized in an appropriate manner. As the audience becomes more remote choices must again be made so that the communication becomes more explicit but, at the same time, more general, as details are replaced by larger categories. The process may continue as the audience becomes progressively distant, the subject becoming "less matter and more idea," until the "verbal stream" is displaced by the mere essence of the original incident.

In summary, Moffett (1968) hypothesizes that an increasing distance between addressor and addressee will have the following effects on a communication:

It will move,

- 1. from quantity of detail to essence (p. 35),
- 2. from the implicit, embodied idea to the explicitly formulated idea (p. 57),
- 3. from talking about present objects and actions to talking about things past and potential (p. 57),
- 4. from stereo-typing to originality, from groupism to individuality (p. 57).

### Basil Bernstein

The current concern with so-called "disadvantaged" language is due in no small measure to the writings of Basil Bernstein whose work, nevertheless, has come under a great deal of criticism in recent

years. While agreeing with dirnstein, himself, that his work has, in many cases, been misinterpreted and misapplied (see Introduction to Bernstein, 1973, Vol. 2) one must also admit that his writings abound with ambiguities (Rosen, 1974).

Much of the criticism against Bernstein's work has arisen from the controversy regarding the role of linguistic structure in **convenies meaning. Bernstein's theory places emphasis on the** characteristic linguistic features of the speech typical of particular sections of the population, and these differences are seen as having an importance for a child's learning. That differences of this kind are important, however, has been challenged in recent years. Labov (1970), for example, has sought to show that American black youths who use non-standard English are nevertheless communicating at least as well as those from the middle class who do speak standard English.

The present study, however, is concerned with only one variable of the communication situation, namely the audience, and when Bernstein's theory is considered in terms of Werner and Kaplan's distancing hypothesis, it seems apparent that implicit in Bernstein's writing is the suggestion that restricted code users do not modify their language as a function of audience. If this is the case then the restricted code may be considered not so much restricted in its linguistic characteristics, but rather, restricted in terms of the audience for whom it is appropriate.

Bernstein calls his work sociolinguistic in nature and attempts to link social structure and social discourse. (He acknowledges his debt to both Durkheim and Marx.) Basically, Bernstein maintains that

people who are restricted to a particular type of social relationship will also be restricted to a particular form of speech (Gahagan & Gahagan, 1970). Members of an authority-oriented family (roughly synonymous with British lower working-class family "type") will be more likely to speak in a "restricted code" than members of a person-oriented family (roughly synonymous with British middle-class family "type") who will have access to what Bernstein calls an "elaborated code" (De Cecco & Crawford, 1974).

Although there is not one direct reference in his work to the aforementioned distancing hypothesis, one may find many passages which afford excellent comparison with the theory of Werner and Kaplan.

A major thrust of Werner and Kaplan's theory is that speech form is dependent on the psychological distance perceived between addressor and addressee. Bernstein, too, appears to recognize the import of inter-personal relations for speech form, and says:

> Changes in the form of certain social relations . . . act selectively upon the principles controlling the selection of both syntactic and lexical options. (Bernstein, 1971, p. 124)

According to Werner and Kaplan speech approximates to "inner speech" when a mature language user is addressing a psychologically "near" audience. Bernstein hypothesizes similar conditions giving rise to what he calls a "restricted code." Bernstein (1971, p. 176) quotes Sapir, Malinowski, Firth, Vygotsky and Luria as all having pointed out from different points of view that the closer the identifications of speakers, the more likely it is that the speech will take a specific form, one in which the range of syntactic alternatives

23

will be reduced and the lexis will be drawn from a narrow range. Thus Bernstein says,

> A restricted code emerges where the culture or sub-culture raises the "we" above "I." (1971, p. 146)

As already mentioned above (see p.14), development for Werner and Kaplan is primarily a movement bowards individualisation so that the mature language user is a "differentiated I." Again we may compare the conditions which give rise to Bernstein's "elaborated code."

An elaborated code will arise whenever the culture or sub-culture emphasizes the "I" over the "we." (1971, p. 147)

Furthermore, Bernstein goes on to say that,

An elaborated code, in principle, presupposes a sharp boundary or gap between self and others which is crossed through the creation of speech which specifically fits a differentiated "other." (1971, p. 152)

The characteristics of the two speech codes also bear similarities to Werner and Kaplan's inner and external speech. In fact, as may be seen from Table 1, Bernstein's restricted code, Piaget's egocentric speech, Vygotsky's inner speech and Werner and Kaplan's inner speech all have similar characteristics. Moreover, like these psychologists, Bernstein acknowledges the fact that:

> a restricted code may be entirely appropriate for certain contexts. (1971, p. 147)

However, whereas the elaborated code user switches codes according to the demands of the situation, the restricted code user, according to Bernstein, does not.

Thus one is faced with the implication that a certain section

.
of the population (which has a particular sociological background in common) does not modify its language as a function of audience.

Joan Tough

4

The final work to be discussed in this section is that of Joan Tough. Two aspects of Tough's work are seen by the investigator as having relevance for the present study.

Firstly, Tough emphasizes the role of situational variables in language production. She says:

> We cannot make statements about children's use of language that hold for any and every situation. We must look at the kinds of demands that are being made in different contexts . . . (Tough, 1977, p. 160)

The findings of Tough's longitudinal study show that although the children in her disadvantaged group scored less on measures of linguistic structure overall than those in her advantaged group, in certain situations the scoring pattern was reversed. Tough blames this on a general lack of audience awareness on the part of the disadvantaged group as they often failed  $\vec{t}_0$ 

> recognize that there was essential *in*formation to be given if the listener was to understand the ideas being offered. (Tough, 1977, p. 169)

However, one testing situation seems to illustrate well the implications of Werner and Kaplan's distancing hypothesis. A screen was placed between two children and one child gave instructions to the other to construct a specific picture, using vinyl shapes. Tough found that

> After the disadvantaged children had had two demonstrations of what is required, their use of nouns and modification and of locational prepositions increases dramatically when compared

with their use in other situations, and the average score for the noun phrases they use is now higher than that of the advantaged group. (Tough, 1973, p. 13) 25

She concludes that the screen has made elaboration necessary in a situation which would otherwise not require it. In terms of the distancing hypothesis, the child has been forced to perceive the "" "distance" which exists between himself and his-audience.

A second aspect of Tough's work (although as yet incomplete) which is of relevance to the present study is her approach to the analysis of child language. She has set out to analyze the way in which children <u>use</u> their language and to discover whether any differences occur between children of different socio-economic background. Tough identifies four functions of language (the directive, the interpretative, the projective and the relational) within which various uses of language are distinguishable. She says:

> If the functions of language are concerned with different kinds of meaning or thinking, the means by which this will be made evident is through different uses of language. (Tough, 1977, p. 46)

Furthermore, within each use of language certain strategies may be discerned. These take account of different devices that may be used such as aiding explicitness within a reporting use of language.

A further analysis of all of Tough's functions is beyond the scope of the present study but her so-called "relational function" seems pertinent.

Tough (1977, p. 64) maintains that the strategies a child selects to express relationships as he talks with another are likely

A Contraction

to influence the kind of interaction which will emerge. This she refers to as the relational function of language which, she believes, is realised through two uses of language, the self maintaining and the interactional. Unfortunately, although strategies at work within the former have been identified, work on the interactional strategies (which would be of most relevance to a study of the present kind) is as yet incomplete.

#### Summary of Section I

The theories of Moffett, Vygotsky, Piaget, and Werner and Kaplan, which are discussed above suggest that as an audience is perceived as being more "remote" communication should show concomitant movement along the following continua:

specific-general
quantity-essence
(Moffett)

The implication of such theory is that by offering a child audiences at a varying "distance" from himself, we are encouraging that child to develop his language potential.

The work of Tough and Bernstein, however, suggests that this ability to modify language as a function of audience may be a factor of socio-economic status. 26

# SECTION II: A REVIEW OF STUDIES OF THE EFFECT OF AUDIENCE ON LANGUAGE PRODUCTION

## Studies of Egocentrism (or Decentring)

Although very little research can be found which investigates the effect of audience on the language of middle-school children, the relation between communication and the young child's cognitive egocentrism (or lack of the ability place oneself in the perspective of a listener) has been a subject of investigation for almost of Piaget who, in 1926, suggested that the communicative language of the young child is inadequate because the child lacks an antereness that other people have different points of view from himself. (See Section  $I_{\gamma}$ . He suggests that it is only at the stage of Formal Operations that a child appreciates the nature of his audience. However, the myths which Piaget's subjects were asked to re-tell in his experiment have since been considered rather difficult for young children and the task of describing the mechanism of a water syringe is now thought by some to be so cognitively complex for the child that his entire attention would need to be devoted to the task rather than being free to possibly take into account his listener's viewpoint (Maratsos, 1973).

More recently, more appropriate tasks have been given to young children and although no results dispute the existence of egocentric language, some do suggest that even pre-schoolers may attempt to modify their language as a function of listener.

Maratsos (1971), for example, investigated whether or not

pre-school children correctly used the definite or indefinite article, according to their listener's point of view. His data seem to indicate that many 4 year olds (especially girls) do. While the 3 year olds in his study were less accurate, even they demonstrated some competence.

In a second study, Maratson (1973) had 3 to 4 year eld children specify referents (toys to use) to an adult in a game they were playing. He found that the children were far more explicit verbally when communicating to an apparently blind adult than when communicating with an adult who could see. Furthermore, many of the children simply pointed to particular referents when the adult could see, yet pointing was seldom used by the children talking to an adult who had blocked vision. The children seemed to be clearly communicating differently depending upon the role-attributes of the listener.

Peterson (1975) also demonstrated that pre-school children are able to modify their verbal communication as a function of listener attributes. Her subjects talked about an experience which had occurred one week previously, under two conditions of listener knowledge:

a. when the listener was knowledgeable about those experiences (having participated in them) and,

b. when the listener was naive.

Peterson found that the proportion of new elements that were appropriately introduced was substantially higher when the experimenter was naive rather than knowledgeable. Also, the children volunteered significantly more references when the listener was naive than when

he was knowledgeable.

In a slightly different type of study, Shatz and Gelman (1973) investigated the modifications which 4 year olds made in their language when talking to 2 year olds as compared with 4 year olds and adults. Three studies (A, B and C) were carried out with a group of  $4^{47}$  year old subjects. In Study A the subjects talked to both an adult and a 2 year old about a toy. Shatz and Gelman (1973) say:

The use of specific toys, instructions, and a fixed setting served to control for the topic of conversation in this study. (p. 2)

In Study B the subjects talked spontaneously to an adult and to a 2 year old, while in Study C the subjects talked spontaneously to adults and to peers.

It was found that the 4 year olds simplified their grammar, shortened their utterances and radically changed their attentiongetting appeals when talking to 2 year olds as compared with 4 year olds and adults. Thus there was substantial modification depending upon the age of the listener.

It should be noted, however, that Shatz and Gelman did conclude that adult-directed speech closely resembled speech addressed to peers and hence, as Peterson (1975) points out, their results may

> be due to the 4 year olds imitating the language of the 2 year olds rather than to appropriate modification dependent on the characteristics of the listener. (p. 12)

Although studies of égocentrism are, by and large, concerned with children of pre-school age, a few investigators have taken a developmental approach.

Flavell, Botkin, Wright and Jarvis (1968), for example,

developed a range of tasks which were intended to tap role-taking and communicative abilities of children in grades two through eight and grade eleven. Two tasks which are considered more relevant than the others to the present study are discussed below. Similar results are recorded on all the tasks.

The first task was similar to that used by Maratsos (1973) in that the subjects were asked to communicate the rules of a game to two different listeners—one blindfolded and one "sighted." It was hypothesized that there would be a greater difference between the two messages with age. Messages were scored according to:

a. the number of different words used by a subject in his message

b. the amount of game information given

c. the amount of inadequate information, the frame of reference being the listener's inferred level of comprehension.

Although the "inadequate information" measure did not turn up as a statistically significant variable, Flavell et al. maintain that the results for the 'game information' alone could "carry" their prediction. They say that their results:

> plainly show that the two messages were more different in the older groups and more different in a way which is eminently sensible. (p. 95)

In a second task, subjects (all female this time) were asked to re-tell a story which they were given to read (or had read to them, in the case of younger students). Firstly they re-told the story to a photograph of an adult and secondly to a photograph of a 4 year old boy. The hypothesis, as in the previous case, was that younger subjects would be less prone to make allowances for the age of their audience than would older subjects. The second message of each subject was scored for the number of "Simplifying Recodings" which it contained. The results showed a striking increase in recoding activity generally between third and seventh grade, with no apparent change thereafter. However, just how "real" an inanimate audience appeared to the subjects does not seem to have been taken into account by the researchers, neither has the possible effect on the results of all the subjects speaking to the "adult" prior to the child.

As mentioned above, Flavell et al. obtained similar results on a whole range of tasks which included persuasive communications and communications addressed to a large audience. They conclude<sup>4</sup>:

> The data from these studies abundantly document the generalization that profound and widespread changes in role taking and communication skills take place during [middle\_childhood and adolescence]. (Flavell et al., 1968, p. 212)

Krauss and Glucksberg (1977) approached the relation between egocentrism and communication using a different perspective and different methodology. Instead of looking at how the child modifies his communication as a function of the **cha**racteristics of the listener, these investigators assessed the role of egocentrism in a referential communication task. The ages of the subjects ranged from nursery school children through grade nine pupils. The subjects were paired and sat one on each side of a screen. Before each subject was a set of blocks, each with an unusual design on it. The task was for each subject to communicate to his partner the order in which to stack the blocks. Krauss and Glucksberg were surprised to find that even fifth

graders were no better than kindergartners on the first trial, not completing a single errorless run. In the course of 15 subsequent trials, third graders did not improve at all, fifth and seventh graders only very slightly, but ninth graders showed a drastic improvement. Krauss and Glucksberg report that their fifth graders were "about 10 years old" (p. TO3) and therefore of a similar age to the subjects in the present study. The researchers do note, however, that their subjects may have been "so overwhelmed by the demands of the particular situation" that they may not have brought their communicative ability into play (Krauss & Glucksberg, 1977, p. 105).

A second finding of Krauss and Glucksberg is also of interest. A similar task was given to adults who made virtually no error even on their first try. However, although the original descriptive phrase given by the subjects was an effective reference, on subsequent trials these messages became significantly shorter.

For example:

<u>Initial Description</u>: It looks like two worms or snakes looking at each other. The bottom part looks like the rocker from a rocking chair.

Shorter Version: Two worms looking at each other.

Shortest Version: Two worms.

Although this might be considered a practice effect, it is more likely that the messages become more implicit because the addressor and addressee shared the context of the previous trials. Within the test situation the partners had become psychologically "close."

A study conducted by Feffer and Suchotliff (1966) demonstrates that an ability to "decentre" affects the communicative accuracy of college students as well as pre-schoolers.

The subjects (all college students) were required to communicate a concept to their partners by using one-word clues. The dependent measure was the amount of time used for correct identification of the concept by the pressee as well as the number of clues which were required by the addressee for a correct identification. The findings of the study indicated that communicator-addressee pairs who scored high on a decentring task were faster and required fewer clues to attain correct communication of the concepts than communicatoraddressee pairs who scored low on the same decentring task.

#### Sociolinguistic Studies

Socialinguistic studies, in general, study "the pattern of social relationships which are the base of speech types" (Bain, lecture University of Alberta, 1976). Thus, audience is identified by many socialinguistic theorists as a vital component of any speech situation (Ervin-Tripp, 1968; Fishman, 1971; Hymes, 1972). On the whole, however, studies examine role relationships in different cultures or sub-cultures and focus on such aspects as code switching in bilingual and diglossic situations, or on the use of honorifics (Fishman, 1971; Pride & Holmes, 1972). In the opinion of the investigator these studies measure simultaneously the effect of several components of the communication situation rather than focussing solely on the effect of audience: Even in Labov's studies of variations in specific phonemic characteristics such as "ing" and "th," the whole

of the experimental context moves along the informal-formal continuum, rather than there being merely a change of addressee.

However, Cazden, in a book of readings entitled "Sociolinguistics" (Pride & Holmes, 1972), does point to the importance of the speech situation as an independent variable, particularly when comparing the language of members of a different social class. Her paper, however, surveys research on child language which includes aspects of the speech situation as independent variables, regardless of social class. The research is grouped under the various components of the speech situation. Unfortunately, that which is reported under the component of "listener" is mainly unpublished term papers, the results of which, perhaps, cannot be accepted at their face value. These results, however, do appear to be in agreement with findings of some recent studies of egocentrism.

Cazden (1967) found that her subjects spoke their shortest sentences, on the average, in two experimental situations with peers. Sentence length was also measured by two students at Harvard University who found that children modified their language when speaking to younger children. Yurchak (1969) found that her 3 year old daughter spoke her longest utterances to her mother, her shortest utterances to her sister, while speech to herself was somewhere in between. Bernat (1969) found that three girls of 9, 11 and 13 years adapted the length of their utterances to younger boys (ages 13, 30 and 29 months), according to evidence of the boys' capacity to talk and to understand.

## Studies Based on the Distancing Hypothesis

Only one experiment has been found which deliberately attempts to study the effects of a "distanced" audience. Kapian (Werner & Kaplan, 1963) attempted to assess the communicative consequences of speech for oneself as opposed to speech for an external audience. Kaplan's subjects were college students and they were presented with a series of stimuli and instructed to write two descriptions of each: one description was solely for the subject's benefit, that is, to help him recognise the stimulus later; the other description was intended to help his "audience" identify it. It was found that descriptions for the audience tended to be longer than those for self, and contained more adjectives and other qualifiers (see Table 1, p. 18). Kaplan found that the differences between external and internal speech were heightened when the stimulus was "perceptually articulate versus diffuse," for example, abstract line drawings as contrasted with water blots. Although only concerned with adults, Kaplan did hypothesize that children would show considerably less differentiation between the two message types than did her adult subjects.

#### Summary of Section II

Douglas Barnes (1973) says that it is,

hard to say at what age children learn to Smatch what they say to the person they say it to. (p. 18)

However, the results of the work cited above show that even children of pre-school age can (and do) modify their language as a function of listener attributes. According to Flavell et al. (1968)

messages coded for different audiences will show increasing differentiation by grade four. Although Krauss and Glucksberg (1977) cast some doubt on this finding, they do point to the possible limitations of their study.

Although the subjects of the studies cited above are not middle-elementary school children, the results imply that the language responses of pre-schoolers (Maratsos, 1971, 1973; Peterson, 1975; Shatz & Gelman, 1973) through to adults (Kaplan, 1967; Krauss & Glucksberg, 1977) will reflect a movement along an implicit-explicit dimension, according to differing listener attributes. Degree of differentiation in responses, however, should increase with age \* (Flavell et al., 1968; Kaplan, 1967).

#### REVIEW OF THE CHAPTER

This chapter has discussed the theories which have influenced the investigator and studies which have sought to investigate the effect of audience on language production.

The theories stated in Section I postulate an immature stage of language development which lacks all awareness of audience, as opposed to a more mature stage where communication is made more exact and elaborate in order to bridge the gulf which exists between addressor and addressee. Even in maturity, however, when an audience is viewed as psychologically close, it is quite appropriate to use a form of language in which the characteristics of less mature language are reflected. According to Bernstein and Tough, however, people of a certain sociological background do not, under general circumstances,

f

perceive the need to make their language elaborate enough to reach a distant audience.

The ability to bridge this "language gap", is seen by Moffett as being so critical that he suggests the language arts curriculum should be built around an audience continuum, ranging from self to generalized other. In this way pupils would learn to "play the symbolic scale," come to an appreciation of the nature of their audience and hence learn to communicate effectively. The implication is, therefore, that by offering the child audiences at increasing distance from self we are encouraging that child to develop his language potential.

Research to date, however, has tended to concentrate on Piaget's notion of egocentrism and has usually "artificially" distanced the audience by means of a screen or blindfold. Moreover, no research can be found which compares the performance of different socio-economic groups when speaking to different audiences. Thus, it was the purpose of the present study to investigate any changes which take place in the language of middle elementary school children as a function of an increasingly remote audience, and, moreover, to investigate whether any differences in these "changes"- may be discerned between children of differing sociological background.

#### Chapter 3

#### DESIGN OF THE STUDY

The design of the study is reported in this chapter. It includes a discussion of the student sampling procedures, the research instrument, the data collection procedure, the analytic procedures, the reliability of the analysis and the pilot study.

## SELECTION OF THE SAMPLE

Seventy five grade four girls of four elementary schools within the Edmonton Public School system comprised the population for the study. These schools were selected by administrative personnel of the Public School Board, who identified two of the schools as representative of high socio-economic status and two of them as representative of low socio-economic status.

The population comprised only girls in order to eliminate any discrepancies of language ability due to the variable of sex and also in order to facilitate testing procedures.

The sample comprised two groups of 15 each. One group was selected from the total population of 35 girls in the high socioeconomic population and the<sup>®</sup>other was selected from the total population<sup>®</sup>of 40 girls in the low socio-economic population.

These samples were chosen according to data collected from the cumulative record cards, in order to meet the following criteria:

a. Subjects within the verbal IQ band 101-120 were chosen in

an attempt to limit the sample to subjects of average intellectual ability. The Canadian Test of Cognitive Abilities had been administered to both groups in May 1976. However, a <u>t</u>-test subsequently performed on the mean IQ of the two groups does show a significant difference (p = .03), in favour of the high socio-economic status group.

b. In order to maintain a certain degree of age consistency
only subjects within the age range of 9 years 6 months to 10 years
2 months were chosen. This eliminated any children who were repeating the grade.

c. Subjects for whom English was a second language were excluded since the oral language task may have presented them with some difficulty.

Six other students were eliminated from the sample, two from the high socio-economic group and four from the low socio-economic group. The four students in the low socio-economic group were eliminated as they were absent from school during the time when the language protocols were collected. One of the subjects in the high socio-economic group was eliminated from the sample because of recording problems and another was withdrawn from the study by her parents.

#### INSTRUMENTATION

The research instrument consisted of three oral language tasks. The subjects were asked to talk about a "scary experience" to three different audiences, namely—peer, older child, unfamiliar adult. The subject of the oral language task, namely that each child talk about a "scary experience," was chosen in light of both the results

40...

.

Table 2	1	ia	b	1	8	2	
---------	---	----	---	---	---	---	--

IQ and Age Distribution of Low SES Sample

Age				
Subject	Years	Months	IQ	
Lj	10	0	102	
L <sub>2</sub>	9	10	· 109	
L <sub>3</sub>	10	1 <u>,</u>	10 <b>4</b>	
L <sub>4</sub> .	9	10	103	
L <sub>5</sub>	9	10	108	
L <sub>6</sub>	10	0	106	
L <sub>7</sub>	9	9	10 <b>9</b>	
L <sub>8</sub>	9	9	104	
Lg	9	11	<sup>′</sup> 103	
L <sub>10</sub>	10	1	, 1 <b>11</b>	
L	9	10	102	
L <sub>12</sub>	9 -	7	110	
L <sub>13</sub>	10	0	103	
L <sub>14</sub>	9	11	117	
L <sub>15</sub>	10	2	120 .	

Age					
ubject	Years	Months		ĮQ	
H <sub>1</sub> A	9	9		113	
H <sub>2</sub>	10	2		113	
H <sub>3</sub> , ''	. 9	7		101	
H <sub>4</sub>	9	8		120	
н <sub>5</sub>	9	8	•	114	
H <sub>6</sub>	10	2		109	
H <sub>7</sub>	10	2		113	
H <sub>8</sub>	<b>9</b> ·	7		120	
H <sub>9</sub>	9	, 6		106	
H <sub>10</sub>	10	1		118	
H <sub>11</sub>	9	7		109	
H <sub>12</sub>	9	11.		119	
H <sub>13</sub>	9	. 8		120	
H <sub>14</sub>	10	1		109	
H <sub>15</sub>	9	8		101	

Table 3

IQ and Age Distribution of High SES Sample

of the first pilot study and Loban's findings that the aforementioned topic elicited a flow of personal language (Loban, 1970). The subjects' responses were taped and transcribed by the investigator. Running observations of the subject's non-verbal behaviour were also made by the investigator.

#### THE AUDIENCES

In the experimental situation, the topic and setting remain constant throughout; the audience, being the variable under study, is the only component of the communication situation bich changes.

The peer audience consisted of one of the same class as the subjects. These girls were chosen the basis of their teachers' judgement, and were judged to be "friendly, warm and potentially good, interested listeners."

The grade six audience consisted of one of two girls from the grade six class in the same school as the subjects. They were chosen on the same basis and satisfied the same criteria as the peer audience.

The adult audience was represented by one of two ex-teachers who were both female and of approximately the same age. They were chosen by the investigator and satisfied the same criteria as both the peer and grade six audiences.

In an attempt to eliminate audience fatigue the two representatives of each audience-type were alternately involved in the testing situation, as subjects met the audience on a one-to-one basis.

Audiences were instructed during a group training session to

open each interview with the question "Hi! What scary thing are you going to tell me about?" During the same session the potential audiences practiced acting as a "warm, interested" audience, making any verbal or non-verbal responses which were natural to them but refraining from asking any question of the subjects, other than the introductory one.

#### TESTING PROCEDURES FOR THE STUDY

Data collection began on May 2, 1977, and continued for two weeks. The procedure with each of the thirty subjects was as follows.

Prior to the subjects meeting with any of the audiences, the investigator conducted an introductory interview with each member of the sample. The primary purpose of this interview was to familiarize the subject with (a) the nature of the forthcoming task and (b) the presence of the tape recorder.

A secondary purpose was that the investigator should act as a "critical listener" (yet warm and attentive) who would "engage the child in thinking aloud" (Tough, 1977, p. 176). This, it was hoped, would later free the subjects to concentrate on the appropriateness of their language.

Each introductory interview was conducted within the following framework:

a. An introductory comment giving the purpose of the forthcoming task, and reassurance that the subject is not to be "tested."

b. An explanation that the subject is going to talk about the same thing to three different people: "I'm going to ask you to talk to three different people—a friend from your own class, a girl from grade six and a lady that you don't know. You're going to talk to these people one at a time and you're going to talk about the same thing to each of them. The thing you're going to talk about is something scary that has happened to you."

c. A statement to begin the subject's response to the investigator: "You're going to tell these three people about something scary that's happened to you. Can you think of anything?— Tell me about it."

d. Additional questions for more reticient respondents: "Have you ever been scared—in the dark?

-when someone has played a trick on you?

-by any animals?

-in a dream?

-when reading a book or watching a movie?"

e. The following questions designed to help the child recall the earlier experience:

-"When did this happen?"

-"How did you feel when you were scared?"

f. A statement telling the subject which audience she is to

speak to.

÷

ŧ,

1.

g. The Bubject is given a few minutes for thought and is asked if she is ready before the audience is introduced.

The subjects spoke to the three audiences in a randomized order (see Table 4). Procedures (f) and (g) above were repeated prior to the

Subjects		·····
Low SES	High SES	Audiences
L <sub>1</sub>	н <sub>1</sub>	1 - 2 - 3
L2	H <sub>2</sub>	1 - 3 - 2
L <sub>3</sub>	Н <sub>З</sub>	2 - 3 - 1
L <sub>4</sub>	H <sub>4</sub>	2 - 1 - 3
L <sub>5</sub>	L <sub>5</sub>	3 - 2 - 1
L <sub>6</sub>	н <sub>б</sub>	3 - 1 - 2
L <sub>7</sub>	H <sub>7</sub>	1 - 2 - 3
L <sub>8</sub>	н <sub>в</sub>	1 - 3 - 2
٤ <sub>9</sub>	<del>∝</del> Н <sub>д</sub> ′	2 - 3 - 1
L <sub>10</sub>	H <sub>10</sub>	2 - 1 - 3
L	H <sub>11</sub>	3 - 2 - 1
L <sub>12</sub>	<sup>H</sup> 12	3 - 1 - 2
<sup>L</sup> 13	<sup>н</sup> 13	1 - 2 - 3
<sup>L</sup> 14	<sup>H</sup> 14	2 - 3 - 1
L <sub>15</sub>	<sup>H</sup> 15 +	3 - 2 - 1
y: 1 - peer 2 - grade six 3 - adult	20	2
	<u>ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>	•
	•	

.

Table 4

Randomized Sequence of Audience Given to Each Subject

45

subjects meeting each audience.

The setting of the interview (which was either the Vice-Principal's office or the Counsellor's room, in each school) was made as informal as possible by placing the two chairs close to one another rather than one on each side of a table. The cassifite tape recorder used had a built-in microphone and was therefore relatively unobtrusive.

# TREATMENT OF THE DATA

#### General Questions

The following questions provide the focus for the study:

In what ways, if any, do middle elementary school children modify their language as a function of an increasingly remote audience?

Can differences be discerned in the modifications mater(as a function of audience) in the oral mage of middle elementary school children of fferent socio-economic backgrounds?

equestions were further refined to form the following

spectra search questions:

#### Question One

Does audience have a significant effect on the oral language responses of the subjects as witnessed and in

(a) the following syntactic measures:

clause usage pronoun usage maze usage

(b) the duration of the response?

#### Question Two

Does audience have a differential effect on the language produced by subjects of high and low socio-economic status, as witnessed in the above measures?

#### Question Three

What categories of change (if any) occur in the subjects' oral language to accommodate for an increasingly remote audience?

#### Question Four

Do differences exist between the high and low Socio-economic groups in the kinds of changes which are made as a function of audience?

#### Analysis

In order to address questions 1 and 2 of the research \* questions, a statistical analysis of scores on syntactic measures was performed.

A second form of analysis, namely a descriptive one, was employed to investigate the remaining research questions.

#### Statistical Analysis

This form of analysis was limited to the investigation of change at the syntactic level. Syntactic analysis was limited to those features which either have been shown, by other investigations, to reflect language complexity, or which may be considered to play an important part in audience understanding.

<u>Use of clauses</u>. The degree of subordination exhibited in the subjects' language protocols was chosen for study on the basis of Loban's suggestion (Loban, 1970) that amount of subordination is a

÷ 3

measure of language maturity. Bernstein, too, has used this measure for analysis and maintains that a restricted code contains less subordination than an elaborated one.

In the present study three types of clauses, main, subordinate and incomplete, were counted and each expressed as a percentage of all clauses used.

<u>Pronoun usage</u>. The use of anaphoric pronouns (those which refer to an antecedent) rather than exophoric pronouns (whose referent is unclear) is vital to the understanding of a "distant" audience. Thus, in the present study, each subject's anaphoric pronouns were counted and expressed as a percentage of total pronouns used.

<u>Maze usage</u>. Maze usage was chosen for investigation on the basis of Anderson's findings (Anderson, 1973) that not only is maze usage a prominent feature in the oral language of children of this age but also that the use of edit mazes correlates with language complexity.

Each language protocol was studied for the total number of mazes used and the number of edit mazes (i.e. word tangles resulting from a correction or change of direction) employed by each subject was then expressed as a percentage of this total.

<u>Duration of the conversation</u>. The length of each conversation was recorded in seconds as the results of Cazden, 1967, Yurchak, 1969 and Bernat, 1969, suggest that this measure might be affected by audience.

In order to investigate the relevant research questions, the data from the above measures were subjected to two-way analyses of variance with repeated measures on Factor B. Factor A was

socio-economic status (i.e., group membership) and Factor B was audience.

### Descriptive Analysis

The investigation of the ways in which the subjects modified their language as a function of audience was carried out by means of a descriptive analysis, the aim of which was to formulate categories from any changes which took place. The categorization was executed by first making intra-subject comparisons of the language protocols. Any changes which occurred between the response to one audience and to another were noted. The changes recorded for the whole group were then studied in detail and the following categories of change were formulated:

1. change in the information units given

2. change in the degree of explicitness of an idea

3: change in the quality of the expression of an idea (

4. change in the mood of the verb

5. change in the degree of generality of an idea. These categories are defined and discussed in Chapter 4.

Due to the great discrepancies in the length of the subjects' conversations, an inter-subject comparison based on a direct count of changes was impossible. Hence, an "inverse frequence of change" was calculated whereby the "density" of the subjects' language changes, across audience, could be compared. This computation was calculated by dividing the average length of conversation the number of changes made:

> Mean Length in Seconds Number of Changes Made

In effect, this computation spaces a subjects' changes regularly through her conversation and hence makes possible a direct comparison between subjects.

## RELIABILITY OF THE CATEGORIES FOR SCORING THE RESPONSES

To determine the reliability with which other researchers could apply the categories defined by the present investigator, two independent judges (after a familiarization session with the investigator) each scored a random sample of 10% of the protocols.

Inter-scorer agreements between the investigator and the two judges were calculated on the basis of the Arrington formula (Arrington, 1932):

### 2 x agreements 2 x agreements + disagreements

The average agreement of 95.3% indicates a satisfactory reliability of categorical scoring.

One hundred percent agreement was obtained between the judges and the investigator for the syntactic analysis.

#### PILOT STUDY

A pilot study was conducted in April 1977 at Thorncliffe Elementary School, Edmonton. Its purpose was three-fold:

a. to test the suitability of the task for eliciting oral language

b. to test the effectiveness of the audience training
procedure

c. to allow for trial administration of the research instru-

Six grade four girls of "average" language facility were chosen to act as subjects on the basis of their teacher's judgement. Two grade four girls and two grade six girls were also chosen on the basis of their teacher's judgement to act as a "warm, interested audience." One adult, an ex-teacher, who was not involved in the later study, acted as the unfamiliar adult in the pilot study.

The proposed task at that time was to ask each subject what she liked to do for fun. However, the responses received tended to be lists of likes and dislikes rather than specimens of fluent language. In a group discussion which was held immediately after the pilot study, the children involved expressed the opinion that the task was very difficult. The task described earlier in the chapter, namely to tell about a scary experience, was then administered to three other grade four girls at Thorncliffe during the following week and was found to be satisfactory.

The audience training procedure was found to be effective and the method for taping the sessions adequate. The tapes were clear enough for ease of transcription and the presence of the recorder did not appear to produce undue anxiety in the subjects. Neither did the investigator's presence appear to adversely affect the interaction between subject and audience.

51

ť

## SUMMARY ·

Chapter 3 described the design of the study. The research questions were formulated and the chosen syntactic measures discussed. The two forms of analysis chosen to investigate the questions were also identified.

•

1

.

R

## Chapter 4

1

#### THE FINDINGS

## INTRODUCTION

This chapter presents and discusses the findings of the two forms of analysis which were described in the preceding chapter. These findings are synthesized in the concluding summary according

and the second second

.

.

•

,

Source of Variation	SS	df	MS '	F	p
Between Subjects	8091.875	29			
'A' Main Effects	551.250	1	551.2 <b>5</b> 0	2.047	1.1636
Subjects within Groups	7540.875	38	269.317	•	
Within Subjects	3894.438	60			
'B' Main Effects	127.383	2	63.691	1.064	0.3518
'A x B' Interaction	416.250	2	208.125	3.478	0.0377
'B' x Subj. within Groups	3350.875	56	59.837		

Table 5

54

o

\* Significant at .03 level.

Note: Factor A - SES Factor B - Audience

۰,



be a marked difference between the two groups on the use of main clauses with the adult audience. Whereas the results of the high socio-economic group show a slight decrease in the use of main clauses as the audience becomes remote, the results of the low socio-economic group, on the other hand, show a slight decrease between the peer and grade six audiences but show an increase of 7.45% between the grade six and the adult audiences. If a larger proportion of main clauses, as the literature suggests, may be taken as a measure of less complex language, then it bould appear that, unlike the high group, the Tow socio-economic group use their most complex language with the grade six audience and their simplest with the unfamiliar adult.

## The Use of Pronouns

۰.

As may be seen from Table 6 the two-way analysis of variance revealed no significant effect in the use of anaphoric propones. Some support for further investigation of this measure, howmeer is given, in so far as the performance of the two groups (see gure 3) is again most similar with the grade six audience (a difference of 3.24%) and least similar with the unfamiliar adult audience (a difference of 11.21%). It appears that there was a tendency for the high socio-economic group to use their most explicit pronouns with the adult, while the low socio-economic group tended to use theirs with the grade six audience.

Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	р р
Between Subjects	40317.063	29	U		
'A' Main Effects	2149.863	1	2149.863	1.577	0.2195
Subjects within Groups	38167.063	28	1363.109		
Within Subjects	24267.375	60			
'B' Main Effects	1603.945	2	801.973	2.120	0.1295
'A x B' Interaction	1482.480	2	741.240	1.960	0.1504
'B' x Subj. within Groups	21181.125	56	378.234		-
			*		

Two-Way Analysis of Variance (SES, Audience) of Use of Anaphoric Pronouns

Table 6

à

•

١

Note: Factor A - SES Factor B - Audience

1

Ø



•

#### The Use of Mazes

As may be seen from Table 7, the two-way analysis of variance revealed no significant interaction effect in the use of edit mazes.

#### Duration of Response

It would appear from the results shown in Table 8 that audience has no significant effect on the length of the subjects'(conversations. Neither does there appear to be any interaction effect. There is, however, a significant difference between the performance of the two groups on this measure (p = .01). This would appear to agree with Tough's finding (Tough, 1977) that her low socio-economic subjects gave shorter answers than her high socio-economic subjects, unless prompted.

#### DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS

In attempting to describe the apparent disagreement between certain researchers as to whether young children modify their language as a function of listener, Peterson suggests that the different conclusions may be attributable to a difference of focus. She says:

A similar suggestion may be made concerning the data of the present study. It is certainly true that a large part of the subjects' responses exhibit no change as a function of audience. However, it

. .
Source of Variation	0	SS	df	MS	F	р
Between Subjects	491	20.375	29			
'A' Main Effects	11	01.973	1	1101.973	0.643	0.4295
Subjects within Groups	480	<b>18.</b> 750	28	1714.955		
Within Subjects	650	93.375	60		•	
'B' Main Effects	17	31.914	2	865.957	0.787	0.4600
'A x B' Intefaction	17	74.688	2	887. <b>34</b> 4	0.807	0-4514
'B' x Subj. within Groups	615	86.688	56	1099.762	-	

.

Table 7

Two-Way Analysis of Vartunce (SES, Audience)

Note: Factor A - SES Factor B - Audience .

4

\*

ų

9 / •

٠.

60

•

,

•

. 12



r



Tal	Ы		8
		-	-

۳.

Two-Way Analysis of Variance (SES, Audience) of Mean Duration of Responses

Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	р
Between Subjects	316177.000	2 <b>9</b>			•
'A' Main Effects	65448.281	1	65448.281	7.309	0.0115**
Subjects within Groups	250729.000	28	8954.605		
Within Subjects	36187.375	60			
'B' Main Effects	937.207	2	468.604	0.746	0.4790
'A x B' Interaction	64.043	2	32.021	0.051	0.9504
'B' x Subj. within Groups	35186.938	5 <b>6</b>	628.338		

\*\* Significant at the .01 level. •

;

Note: Factor A - SES Factor B - Audience

<u>`</u>\_

(

0



G

is also true that by making intra-subject comparis many differences are evident in the way in which the subjects respond to the different audiences. This section describes the categories of change which emerged from an analysis of this sort for the whole group.

As noted in Chapter 3, the responses of each subject were compared in order to identify any change which occurred across audience. On examination of these changes for the whole group (30 subjects) it appeared that the following types of change were taking place:

- 1. Change in the information units given.
- 2. Change in the degree of explicitness of an idea.
- 3. Change in the quality of the expression of an idea.
- 4. Change in the degree of generality of an idea.
- 5. Change in the mood of the verb.

## 1. Change in the Information Given

A change was "scored" within this category whenever a unit of information was added or omitted by a subject for only one audience out of the three. Unlike the other categories, this category is not concerned with the changes which take place in the expression of one idea across three audiences, but rather, whether the same ideas are expressed to each audience.

• For both groups, the highest concentration of changes occurs within this category. The responses of the low socio-economic group, however, cluster here more than those of the high. A total of 67.7% of the low group's changes are scored in this category as compared with 49.4% of the high group's changes. Table 9

٩

•

.

.

Distribution of Changes Throughout the Categories

Subject	Change in Information Units Given	Change in Degree of Explicitness of an Ideá	Qualitative Change in Expression of Idea	Change in Degree of Generality of an Idea	Change in the Mood of the Verb	Total Number of Changes	Time of Conver- sation (Av.)	Inverse Frequency of Change (seconds)
Ŧ	. –	2	~	. 1	1	-	33.3	8.32
H2	6	5	-	•	•	12	197.6	16.46
H <sub>3</sub>	7	4	£	I	ł	14	98.0	7.00
H A	2	2	7	ı	ı	11	177.6	16.14
н <sub>5</sub>	~	m	ı	ł	ı	S	33.3	6.67
-9 H	Q	2	ю	I	-	12	108.3	<b>6</b> 0.6
H <sub>7</sub>	80	2	2	ı	ı	12	138.0	11.50
н <sup>8</sup>	12	l	6	ţ	ı	23	161.3	10.7
Hg	S.	Þ	~`	L	~	13	• 95.6	7.35
0L <sup>H</sup>	2	٣	I	ł	-	9	57.0	<b>)</b> .50
LL <sup>H</sup>	7	·	5	-	•	13	183.6	14.12 -
H <sub>12</sub>	œ	ę	4	1	2	18	198.3	10.11
н <sub>13</sub>	m	4	e	I	' .	10	87.0	8.70
H,4	2	-	1	ı	2	2	43.6	• 8.72
H <sub>15</sub>	6		I		1.1	10	46.3	4.63
rercent of Total						,	•1 •	•
Chănge	49.4	20.2	. 23.8	2.3	4.2	Average		<b>6</b> ,74
<b>A</b>	and the second se	•					-	• 1

.

65

•

Ļ

Table 9 (Continued)

.

١.

.

,

•

•

je in Mation Given	Change in Degree of Explicitness of an Idea	Qualitative Change in Expression of Idea	Change in Degree of Generality of an Idea	Change in the Mood of the Verb	Total Number of Changes	Time of Conver- setion (Av.)	Inverse Frequency of Change (seconds)
	e	I	1	1	2	28.3	5.68
	2	ı	•	L	ſ	20.6.	6.90
	ı	I	ı	ı	4	43.3	10.85
	ı	2	ı	ı	6	92.6	10.31
	2	ı	ı	ı	ę	23.3	7.81
	2		, 1	ı	8	75.0	9.37
	2	<b>-</b> ,	I	ı	8	57.3	7.16
	L	۲ 2 ۲	1	ı	9	45.3	7.58
4	2	ı	ŧ	1	4	43.6	10.99
	l	I	I	-	٣	46.6	15.33
	2	ì	ı	ı	7	45.6	6.52
	ı	l	I	-	9	38.0	6.33
	ŀ	ı	1	ı	14	211.6	15.11
	2	I	l	•	7	50.6	7.22
	•	ł	I	-	4	28.0	7.00
	6.91	<b>6</b> 2	c	4 4	Average	l	8 05

€

66

<u>ر</u>ز.

In both groups, most information was added and least omitted for the peer audience. (Four information "units" were omitted by the high group for the peer and 25 added: two were omitted by the low group and 18 added.) In both cases, the information which was added for the peers tended to be "minute details." One subject ( $\#H_8$ ), for example, told the peer that she had a flashlight to see the spider shadows on the wall, a detail perhaps considered unnecessary for the older audiences. Similarly, another subject ( $\#H_{12}$ ) who told about a scary ride at Disneyland, added to the peer:

> "But the plane's hooked on to this middle pole, . you know."

A subject in the low socio-economic group (#L<sub>14</sub>), after describing how she had had "ninety needles" in her arm which had bled for three days, told the peer,

"like you have to wash them off and everything."

The extra information seems almost an attempt to fill in the context, possibly unfamiliar, for the peers, as though it is assumed that the older audiences would have had similar experiences.

Again for both groups, most information was omitted and least added for the adult audience (although it should be noted that an equal number of information "units" were added by the high socioeconomic group for the adult.and grade six audiences).

In many cases, the information omitted for the adult might almost be considered "wnsuitable," as if the subjects were "censoring" their stories. One subject (#H<sub>11</sub>), for example, tells about a "sexy lady" to the peer and grade six audiences (much to their amusement!) but does not mention this detail to the adult. Similarly, another

subject (#L<sub>15</sub>) does not tell the adult about the midnight chase through her cousin's house which delighted the two younger audiences but which would, perhaps, be "frowned upon" by an adult.

Other details omitted to the adult were "personal" ones, such as:

"You know the twins? Well they were there too." (#L6) and

"Aww, you know my brother:" (#L12)

In sum, then, the existence of this category suggests' that the subjects' communication to the most intimate audience (the peer) contained most detail whereas that to the most distance audience (the adult) contained least. Interestingly, the results with the grade six audience, for both groups, fell somewhere between the other two audiences, examples of all the afore-mentioned types of detail occurring.

The existence of this category would appear to agree with Moffett's hypothesis that as we re-tell past experience we choose appropriate details from the original "verbal stream" of direct experience. That this choice is affected by the distance of the audience would seem to be reflected in the extra "minute" details which were given to the peers, the communication to the nearest audience most resembling that original "verbal stream." Similarly, the communication to the most distant audience (the unfamiliar adult) contained least detail.

ţ.

0

 $\odot$ 

# 2. Change in the Degree of Explicitness of an Idea

Approximately 20% of the changes of each group fell within this category. Unlike the previous category, here the change is not a change of information but rather a change in the detail attached to the same idea when expressed to different audiences. This change in detail has the effect of making the idea more explicit to one audience than to another. The subjects seemed to achieve this effect by means of elaboration.

In some cases, an idea which was simply stated to one audience was expanded for another by means of relevant details.

For example:

"Cherry" (to peer)

"Cherry my big sister in grade seven" (to grade six)

"My sister Cherry, she's older than me" (to adult)

Similarly, inferences were expanded into statements by some subjects:

"I went outside (laughs)" (to peer and grade six)

"I went out and played and I wasn't supposed to" (to adult)

In most where the elaboration was extra detail which led to a more exact statement:

> "She takes it out and puts it on the table" (to peer and . grade six)

"She takes the present out—it's a Zulu doll—and she puts it on the table" (to adult)

(#H<sub>6</sub>)

(**#L**,)

(#H<sub>0</sub>)

"I went upstairs" (to peer)

"We wont upstairs" (to grade six)

"Kerry's Auntie 11 took me upstairs" (to adult)

(#H<sub>5</sub>)

(#H<sub>12</sub>)

(#H<sub>7</sub>)

• Often this "exectness" was reflected in the use of a more precise term of measurement:

"It was part-way open" (to peer)

"the door was open about an inch" (to adult and grade six)

(#H<sub>13</sub>) "I did it to her tôd" (to peer and grade six)

"I did it to her three 'times" (to adult)

Or in a more "precise" choice of vocabulary:

"dog" (to peer and grade six)

"black-poodle" (to adult)

A third way in which this "precision" is reflected is in the use of modifiers:

"big snakes" (to peer and grade six)

"big, fat, ugly snakes" (to adult)

(#H<sub>10</sub>)

Interestingly, although in the high socio-economic group the greatest degree of explicitness always occurs with the adult audience (or both adult and grade six audiences), more than half (56%) of the low socio-economic group's changes in this category are most explicit with the grade six audience (or both grade six and peer-audience).

For example:

"this dog came in and bit me" (to peer and adult) "all of a sudden this huge, German Shepherd was in the yard and he bit my lip right up" (to grade six)

(#Lg)

"long time ago" (to peer and adult)
"last year" (to grade six)

"scary things" (to peer and adult)

"robberies" (to grade six)

(#L<sub>7</sub>)

 $(\#L_{c})$ 

The examples in this category, then, reflect a movement from an implicit statement to a more explicit one. With the high SES group this change occurs as the audience becomes more remote. In the low SES group, however, there is a tendency for the subjects to be most explicit with the grade six audience rather than with the most distant audience of unfamiliar adult.

To a certain extent, the existence of this category would appear to agree with the hypotheses of the theorists cited in Chapter 2 that as the audience becomes more remote communication should reflect movement along the implicit-explicit dimension. A slight disagreement occurs, of course, in the finding that the low socioeconomic group were often most explicit with the grade six audience rather than with the most distant audience of unfamiliar adult. Interestingly a similar pattern occurs in each of the sategories and would appear to reflect the similar tendency revealed in the statistical analysis.

# Quality of Expression

3.

Cha

Again schanges in this category are concerned with the expression of the same idea across audiences. In some ways the changes may also be considered to be a change in degree of explicitness; however, changes were scored within this category when a qualitative change also took place as a function of audience; responses tending to be more succinct, less verbose and less reliant on gesture for meaning. Interestingly, whereas 23.8% of the high socio-economic group's changes fall within this category, H subjects out of the 15 exhibiting examples of this sort, only 7.7% of the low socio-economic group's changes lie here and only five of the subjects contribute examples to the tategory. Moreover, again, almost half of the 16w group's examples in this category (48%) reflect the best "quality" response with the grade six audience.

Most examples in this category reflect a change in the organization of the response; an idea which was expressed to one audience in, perhaps, vague, rambling terms, gesture often playing a vital role in the meaning of the communication, is expressed, to another audience, guite succinctly.

For example:

"He put his hand like this ... you know, like ... (hesitatingly) in a monster way" (to peer)

"He put his hand like this and started making these spider things" (to grade six)

"He opened the door and made a big huge spider shadow" (to adult)

(#L\_) \*

"this skeleton thing . . . umm, one of those funny skeletons?" (to peer)

"this skeleton . . like you know, one of those for experiments" (to grade six)

"one of those experimental skeletons" (to adult)

"She went and looked around for their truck but there was no truck" (to peer)

"She looked around for the truck but she could not see it" (to grade six)

"there was no sign of the truck" (to adult)

• (#H\_)

 $(\#L_{q})$ 

.(#H<sub>14</sub>)

(#Hg)

· É

An example from the low socio-economic group follows. Note . that again the greatest change occurs with the grade six audience.

> "we had goose bumps and stuff and like we were shivering and everything" (to peer)

> "we had umm . . . like goose bumps and like we were shivering like" (to adult)

"we were shivering and goose bumps all over" (to grade six)

Other exploses within this category represent a "stylistic" change, as in the following example with the movement away from the comic-book style (which was, perhaps, felt to be most appropriate for the peer audience?).

> "Bang: Crash! Slide!" (to peer and grade six) "Crashing noises downstairs" (to adult)

Most "stylistic" changes were reflected in choice of vocabu-

but rather more appropriate, often leading to a more succinct statement.

For example:

, cerí

"it was not real" (to peer and grade six)

"it was false" (to adult)

Another example from the same subject:

"she saw this thing—this funny-shaped thing" (to peer)

"she saw this funny looking thing" (to grade six)

"she saw this mantel" (to adult).

In the following example from the low socio-economic group, the "better" choice of vocabulary occurs with both the peer and grade six audiences.

> "the character in the book" (to beer and grade six) "the guy, the person in the book" (to adult)

> > (#L<sub>A</sub>)

(#H\_)

Although this category like the previous one, reflects movement along an implicit-explicit dimension, many of the qualitative changes would appear to reflect a movement in a second dimension, namely from quantity to essence, and hence do perhaps lend some support to Moffett's hypothesis that as the audience becomes more remote, communication reflects movement along a quantity-essence continuum. Again, however, although the high SES group reflect this movement as the audience becomes more remote, many of the results of the low socio-economic group reflect this tendency with the grade six audience rather than with the adult. The two final categories contain few examples, comprising between them only 6.4% of the high group's changes and 4.4% of the low group's changes. They are, however, considered worthy of discussion as the examples contained therein are distinct from the other categories, and, despite their paucity, are perhaps indicative of a trend.

4. Change in the Degree of Generality

Only 2.3% of the high socio-economic group's changes lie in this category and the low group exhibit no such changes.

Changes in this Category reflect an attempt on the part of the subject to make the part is from more specific details.

For example:

"I was only five, so it was quite wary" (to peer) "I was only five so it was kinda scary" (to grade soft) "it's kind of scary 'cos your parents are not where (to adult) (#H<sub>o</sub>)

"Jame's really nice to Mrs. White's little girl" (to peer and grade six)

"Jane loves children" (to adult)

Yet again this category offers some support Wer a suggestion of Moffett's, namely that for a more remote audience communication will be more general in nature. As the ability to form generalizations, however, is a higher order skell, it is hardly surprising that so few examples of this sort exist in a language sample from middle elementary school children. Nevertheless, it is perhaps indicative of a trend

- [

(#H<sub>11</sub>)

which would be more evident with older subjects.

# 5. Change in the Mood of the Verb

Both groups have an approximately equal proportion of changes in this category (4.16% of the httph SES group's and 4.4% of the low's). Basically, changes in this category are changes, from the active to passive mood of the verb, with audience.

For example:

"I thought it was coming towards :: . " (to peer) "It seemed like it was coming towards . . ." (to grade six and adult)

(#H<sub>14</sub>)

"I had to get bathed in a sink" (the set of a sink" (the set of a sink" (to gradient a sink" (to gradient a sink a sink"))

One ( of the changes from the low group reflects the use of the passive voice with the peer rather than with the adult:

"It scared me so bad" (to peer)

"I got so scared" (to grade six and adult)

Although such a change is not anticipated in the literature (see Chapter 2), the subjects who give examples in this category almost seem to be attempting to "decentre" and to make statements which are less "personal" or "self-centred" in orientation—a vital process, surely, if successful communication with a distant audience is to

ensue.

As a significant difference existed between the two groups in the duration of their responses, it was impossible to tell from a simple frequency count whether one group exhibited more changes than the other as a function of sudience.

Thus, in order to address research question 4 (namely whether any difference may be discerned in the kinds of changes exhibited by the two groups), an "inverse frequency" of change was calculated by dividing the average length of conversation for each subject by the comber of changes made:

# Mean Length in Seconds Number of Changes Made

In effect this computation spaces the changes regularly through the conversation and hence makes possible a direct comparison between subjects. As the figure obtained from such a computation is a measure of the time lapse between changes, a larger number would indicate a lesser degree of change.

As may be seen from Table 9, virtually no difference exists between the two groups in the amount of change which occurred, the average "inverse frequency" for the high socio-economic group being 9.74 and for the low group, 8.95.

This would seem to indicate that both groups exhibited a similar degree of audience awareness. However, as gain may be seen from Table 9, and the discussion above, marked differences do exist in the patterns of differentiation between the two groups.

One pajor difference lies in the concentration of changes for each group in the various categories. Whereas both groups change most in the information given to the three audiences, a far greater

proportion of the low group's chappes lie in this category (67.7% as compared to 49.4%). The high group, on the other hand, appear to make far more "qualitative" changes and generally applicable statements than do the low group. 78

A further interesting difference between the two groups lies in the finding that the low socio-economic group often produces must change with the grade six audience. This stands in marked contrest to the high group who consistently give for most explicit, best "quality" and most there? I interest to the adult audience.

Buch a finding is, perhaps, reflected in an observation which the investigator made at the time of data collection namely that there was a marked difference between the two groups in their "body language" when speaking to the adult audience. Although an analysis of such behaviour is beyond the scope of the present study, it is interesting to note the different "reactions" of the two groups.

Mhereas both groups reacted quite similarly to the experimental situation when speaking to the peer and grade gix audiences.

a marked difference existed in their reaction to the fult. In the. high group, even the apparently nervous subjects sat reasonably still while talking to the adult, just perhaps swinging their legs or moving where hands nervously. Eye contact was rarely completely avoided, most subjects looking away while pausing but looking at the adult to speak. A few subjects did avoid eye contact for most of the conversation but tended to glance at the audience at the end-of a phrase or sentence, as if for feedback. In the low socio-economic group, on the other hand, the subjects, on the whole, seemed far more "ill at ease" with the unfamiliar adult audience and many fidgetted constantly, avoiding eye contact and often, in contrast to the high group, pausing while glancing at the audience and speaking while looking away.

in sum, by and large, the low secio-economic group appeared. far more "uncomfortable" with the unfamiliar adult audience than did the high socio-economic group a fact perhaps reflected in the finding that the low socio-economic group often performed most similarly to the high group appears winking to the grade six audience.

THESIS

# Question One

J 👌 🔊

0.

In what ways, if any, do middle elementary school children modify their language as a function of an increasingly remote audience?

The theories more remote communities should reflect movement

along the following continua:

implicit\_explicit (Piaget; Vygotsky, Moffett, Bernstein, Werner and Kaplan)

specific-general
quantity-essence

offett)

Moreover, the findings of the research studies cited imply that the language responses of pre-schoolers (Maratsos, 1971, 1973; Peterson, 1975; Shantz & Gelman, 1973) through to adults (Kaplan, 1967; Kraus & Glucksberg, 1977) will reflect a movement along an implicit-explicit dimension, according to differing listener attributes.

The results of the statistical analysis for the present study,

however, indicate that audience has no significant effect on clause, pronoun and maze usage, nor on the duration of the response. It is thus possible that, contrary to the suggestions of the literature, children of this age do not differentiate as a function of an increasingly remotinguationce and ration. Forguine the more artificial distancing provided in other research such as a blindfold (Maratsos, 1973), a screen (Krauss & Glucksberg, 1977), or a picture (Flavell et al., 1968).

The results of the descriptive analysis, however, suggest that even if no change was occurring at the level of surface structure, the subjects were, nevertheless, making some modifications in their communication. The following categories of change were identified:

--- change in the information units given

-change in the degree of explicitness of an idea -qualitative change in the expression of an idea -change in the degree of generality of an idea -change in the mood of the verb.

As already mentioned in the previous section, Category 2 would seem to reflect the anticipated movement from implicit to explicit, while Categories 1, 3 and 4 appear to lend some support to Moffett's hypothetical movement along the following dimensions:

# quantity-essence

As mentioned in Chapter 2, the results of Tough's ongoing study of the Interactional Use of Language will be of great importance for our appreciation of the audience dimension of communication.

However, as all the language samples of the present study are examples of her "Relational Function," then a possible hypothesis at this point is that the categories identified above may be examples of strategies at work within the interactional Use of Language.

#### Question Two

Can differences be discerned in the modifications\_\_\_\_\_ made (as a function of audience) in the oral language of middle elementary school children of different socio-economic backgrounds?

Implicit in the priting of Bernstein is the idea that a certain section of the population, who have a particular sociological background in common, do the under general circumstances, madify their language as a function of audience. Tough, too, hypothesizes a failure on the part of her low socio-economic subjects to adequately envisage the communicative needs of their audience. Moreover, she attributes the differences between her high and low groups, on a variety of language tasks, to this lack of audience awareness.

The findings of the present study on both the descriptive and statistical analyses suggest that SES may indeed be related to <sup>1</sup> the subjects' ability to modify their language as a function of audience.

The significant interaction effect obtained in the statistical analysis for clause usage, points to a difference which exists between the two groups on their performance with the adult audience. That this difference is not peculiar to this one measure is suggested in the similar pattern which emerged on the other measures. Moreover, the finding is further supported by the implication of the descriptive

analysis that the two groups performed most similarly with the grade six audience and least similarly with the adult.

•

82

SES appears to be a factor affecting performance with different audiences in so far as, for the low SES group, there appeared the be an optimum distance between addresser and addressee with which they coped similarly to the high socio-economic group, but beyond which their performance markedly differed.

#### Chapter 5

## SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

A summary of the study and an outline of the findings are presented in this chapter. Conclusions which may be drawn from these findings are suggested and recommendations for further research are made. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the implications of the study.

#### SPEMARY

The purpose of the study was two-fold:

a. to investigate the effect of audience on the oral language of a sample of 9 year\_old girls,

b. to examine whether audience had a differential effect according to the socio-economic status of the subjects.

The sample was drawn from four schools within the Edmonton Public School system and comprised two groups of 15 girls. One group was deemed to be of high SES and the other of low SES. Both groups were of similar age and IQ.

Each of the subjects spoke on the same topic ("a scary. experience") to three audiences, each at a different degree of intimacy. These were a peer from the same class, a grade six girl containing school and an unfamiliar adult. The subjects spoke to the audiences of an individual basis and in a random order. The destences well chosen according to predetermined criteria. Responses

ere recorded and then transcribed verbeals

In order to address the research mestions pased by the study two distinct forms of analysis were carried ext. Firstly, two-way analyses of variance, with repeated measures on Factor B, were performed on the subject' scores or the chosen syntactic measures. Mondly, all intra-subject differences in the language protocols, which occurred as a function of audience, were recorded and categorized.

#### FINDINGS

# Statistical Analysis

A significant interaction effect was found to exist between socio-economic status and audience, regarding the proportion of main clauses used (p = .03). No significant results were recorded, however, for maze and pronoun usage. A significant difference (p = .01) did occur between the two groups in the duration of their responses.

# Descriptive Analysis

The following categories of change were formulated from the subjects' responses:

-change in the information units given

-change in the degree of explicitness of an idea

-qualitative change in the expression of an idea

change the designer of generality of an idea

-change in the mood of the verb.

Although no difference was found in the amount of change exhibited by the two groups, a difference was evident in the kinds of shange identified for each group.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

Due to the exploratory nature of this study and the subjective form of analysis employed, no conclusive statements can be made about the relationship between language, audience and socio-economic status: The findings, however, do suggest certain areas which, on further  $\frac{94}{1000}$ investigation, might prove fruitful.

#### Question One

In what ways, if any, do middle elementary school children modify their language as a function of an -increasingly remote audience?

The non-significant results of the statistical-analysis indicate that further investigation of the relationship between audience and the use of clauses, pronouns, mazes or the duration of the response, would not be worthwhile.

The results of the descriptive analysis, however, indicate that some changes did occur as a function of audience. Although no definitive statement can be made about these changes, the findings do suggest that further investigation of the categories formulated in this study might prove fruitful.

#### Question Two

Can differences be, discerned in the modifications made, as a function of audience, in the oral language of middle elementary school children of different socio-economic backgrounds?

That a relationship does exist between audience, SES and

'85

oral language is indicated in the tendency for the two groups in question to perform most similarly with the grade six audience and least similarly with the unfamiliar adult. Although no conclusive statement can be made regarding the nature of the relationship, the significant interaction effect obtained between audience and SES for clause usage, reflects this phenomenon and indicates that this measure merits further investigation. The similar tendency observed on the pronoun usage suggests that further study of this measure; too, m might prove fruitful.

That this relationship is also reflected in the categories of change formulated by the investigator was indicated by the finding that, even though a similar amount of change occurred, the predominant category of change was different for/the two groups. Moreover, a marked difference in the performance of the two groups with the, adult audience was evident.

\$

Although a comprehensive analysis of the subject, changes in "body language" was beyond the scopé of the present study, the researcher's observations nevertheless indicate that further investigation of this area would prove valuable.

The findings of the statistical analysis suggest that further investigation of the relationship between audience, SES and maze usage, would not be worthwhile.

The findings of the present study suggest that although audience has no statistically significant effect on the oral language

IMPLICATIONS

of middle school pupils, children of different socio-economic backgrounds tend to perform most similarly when speaking with a grade six audience and least similarly with an unfamiliar adult audience.

Although it must be remembered that audience distance is not a simple dimension, but rather impinged upon by other components of the communication situation, nevertheless the implications of such a finding would seem to lie in three distinct areas.

> Firstly, researchers should, as Tough suggests, be aware that we cannot make statements about children's use of language that hold for any and every situation. (Tough, 1977, p. 157)

Children in so-called "departived groups" may well have greater resources of language than their typical performances reveal and should be offered a variety of audiences until these resources are tapped.

Secondly, teachers should be aware of the audience dimension in their language arts program. The distance between child and audience should only gradually be increased, the teacher constantly helping the child to build up strategies that are effective for communication.

Finally, educators in general should consider that of all the audiences that a child is asked to address in school, an intimate one is the most rare. Yet the results of the present study indicate that some children might need to develop new strategies to address anything other than an intimate audience. All too often it is forgotten that,

> The skills that are developed through the experiences of participating in dialogue are those skills of thinking and of using language that would seem to provide the very basis from which education can proceed. (Tough, 1977, p. 176)

. Si

•

•

•

•

BIBLIOGRAPHY

•

•

. 1

88

.

· · · · ·

•

•

#### **BIBLICERAPHY**

- Arrington, R. E. Interrelations in the behaviour of young children. Child Development Monograph No. 8. New York: Teachers College, Columbia University, 1932.
- Barnes, D. Language in the classroom. Bucks: Open University Press, 1973.
- Bernstein, B. Elaborated and restricted codes: Their social origins and some consequences. In A. R. Lindesmith & A. L. Strauss (Eds.). Readings in social psychology. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1969.
- Bernstein, B. <u>Class codes and control</u> (Vol. I). London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1971.
- Bernstein, B. <u>Class codes and control</u> (Vol. II). London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1973.
- Blishen, B. R. (Ed.). <u>Canadian society: Sociological perspectives</u>. Toronto: Macmillan, 1968.
- Britton, J. Language and learning. Middlesex: Pelican, 1972.

•

- Bruner, J. S. <u>Toward a theory of instruction</u>. Boston: Harvard University Press, 1966.
- Bruner, J. S. <u>Beyond the information given</u>. New York: Norton and Co., 1973.
- Cazden, C. B. The situation: A neglected source of social class differences in language use. In J. B. Pride & J. Holmes (Eds.), <u>Sociolinguistics</u>. London: Penguin, 1972.
- Daine, P. <u>Educational knowledge codes: An analysis of the Bernstein</u> <u>typology</u>. Unpublished master's thesis, University of Alberta, 1974.
- De Cécco, J., & Crawford, W. <u>The psychology of learning and instruc</u>. . tion. Newark, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1974.
- De Stefano, J. S. Register: Social variation in language use. Elementary School Journal, 1972, 72, 189-194.
- Doughty, P., Pearce, J., & Thornton, G. Exploring language. London: Arnold, 1972.
- Erikson, F. D. F'get you honky. <u>Elementary English</u>, 1969, <u>46</u>, 495-499.

Ervin-Tripp, S. H. An analysis of the interaction of language topic and listener. In J. A. Fishman (Ed.). <u>Readings in the sociology</u> of language. The Hegue: Mouton, 1970.

- Ervin-Tripp, S. M. Sociolinguistics. In J. A. Fishman (Ed.), Advances in the sociology of language. The Hague: Mouton, 1971.
- Esland, G. Language and social reality. Bucks: Open University Press, 1973.
- Feffer, N., & Suchotliff, L. Qegentring implications of social interactions. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1966, 4, 415-422.
  - Fishman, J. A. The relationship between micro and macro sociolinguistics in the study of who speaks what language to whom and when. In J. B. Pride & J. Holmes (Eds.), <u>Sociolinguistics</u> London: Penguin, 1972.
  - Fishman, J. A. (Ed.). <u>Advances in the sociology of language</u> (Vol. II). The Hague: Mouton, 1972.
  - Flavell, J. H., Botkin, P., Fry, C., Wright, J., & Jarvis, R. The development of role-taking and communication skills in children. New York: Wiley, 1968.
  - Foster, L., & Nixon, M. Language, socio-economic status and the school: An exploratory study. <u>Alberta Journal of Educational</u> Research, 1973, <u>19</u>, 187-188.
  - Frost, J. L., & Rowland, G. T. Developing communication skills. In J. L. Frost & G. Hawkes (Eds.), <u>The disadvantaged child</u>. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1970.
  - Gahagan, D. M., & Gahagan, G. A. <u>Talk reform</u>. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1970.
  - Garvey, C., & Hogan, R. Social speech and social interaction: Egocentrism revisited. <u>Child Development</u>, 1973, <u>44</u>, 562-568.
  - Genesee, F., Tucker, G. R., & Lambert, W. E. Communication skills of bilingual children. <u>Child Development</u>, 1975, <u>46</u>, 1010-1014.
  - Greenfield, L. Situational measures of normative language views in relation to person, place and topic among Puerto Rican bilinguals. In J. Fishman (Ed.), <u>Advances in the sociology of language</u> (Vol. II). The Mague: Mouton, 1972.

Gumperz, J. J., & Hymes, D. (Eds.). <u>Directions in sociolinguistics</u>. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1972.

Harris, A. E. Social dialectics and language: Mother and child construct the discourse. <u>Human Development</u>, 1975, <u>18</u>; 80-96.

Hodges, J. C., & Whitten, M. E. <u>Harbrace college handbook</u> (6th ed.). New York: Harcourt, Brace and World, 1967.

Hymes, D. Toward ethnographies of communication: The analysis of communicative events. In P. P. Gigler, (5d.), Language and social context. London: Penguin Statistics.

Hymes, D. Models of the interact on our social life. In J. J. Gumperz & D. Hymes New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1976.

Joos, M. The five clocks. New York: > Harcourt, Brace and World, 1967.

Klein, M. L. <u>Talk in the language arts classroom</u>. Champaign, Ill.: NCTE, 1977.

Krauss, R. M., & Glucksberg, S. Social and non-social speech. Scientific American, 1977, 236(2), 100-105.

Labov, W. The study of language in its social context. In P. P. Giglioli (Ed.), Language and social context. London: Penguin, - 1972.

Lawton, D. <u>Social class, language and education</u>. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1968.

Loban, W. D. The language of elementary school children. <u>National</u> <u>Council of Teachers of English Research Report No. 1</u>. Champaign, III.: National Council of Teachers of English, 1963.

Luria, A. R., & Yudovitch, F. J. <u>Speech and the development of mental</u> processes in the child. London: Staples Press, 1959.

Maratsos, M. P. Nonegocentric communication abilities in preschool children. <u>Child Development</u>, 1973, <u>44</u>, 697-700.

McFetridge, P. A. The uses and nature of language. Elements, 1969, 1(2), 1-2.

Mehrabian, A., & Reed, H. Some determinants of communication accuracy. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, 1968, <u>70</u>, 365-381.

Moffett, J. <u>Teaching the universe of discourse</u>. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1968.

Peterson, C. L. The modification of communicative behaviour in pre-school aged children as a function of the listener's perspective. Child Development, 1975, 46, 1015-1018.

Piaget, J. The language and thought of the child. New York: Harcourt, Brace and World, 1948. Riegel, K. F. The dialectics of human development. <u>American</u> <u>Psychologist</u>, 1976, <u>31</u>, 689-700.

: •

۰.

- Robinson, W. P. The elaborated code in working class language. Language and Speech, 1965, 8, 243-252.
- Robinson, W. P. Language and social behaviour. London: Penguin, 1972.

Rosen, H. Language and class: A critical look at the theories of Basil Bernstein. Bristol: Falling Wall Press, 1974.

Schmidt, W. H. O, <u>Child development</u>: The human, cultural and <u>educational context</u>. New York: Harper and Row, 1973.

Shatz, M., & Gelman, R. The development of communication of the speech of young children as a second of listener. <u>Monographs of the Society for Research in Control Development</u>, 1973, <u>38</u> (5, Serial #152), University of Chicago Press.

- Thorn, E. A., & Braun, C. <u>Teaching the language arts</u>. Toronto: Gage, 1974.
- Tough, J. <u>The language of young children</u>. Unpublished manuscript, University of Wales, 1973.
- Tough, J. The development of meaning. London: Allen and Unwin, 1977.
- Vygotsky, L. S. [Thought and language] (G. Vakar, Ed. and trans.). Cambridge, Mass.: M. Press, 1962.
- Werner, H., & Kaplan, K. Symbol formation. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1967.
- Wilkinson, A. <u>Foundations of language</u>. London: Oxford University Press, 1971.
- Wilkinson, A. <u>Language and education</u>. London: Oxford University Press, 1975.
- Williams, F., & Naremore, R. C. <u>An</u> functional analysis of social class differences in modes of speech. <u>Speech Monographs</u>, 1969, 39, 77-102.
- Winer, B. J. <u>Statistical principles in experimental design</u>. New York: McGraw Hill, 1971.





#### A SAMPLE LANGUAGE PROTOCOL

SUBJECT: #H

AUDIENCE: PEER

I'm going to tell you about when I want to my friend Janie's house and when we, - how scared to death by her brother. See, I went over to her house, I don't know, it was about a couple o' weeks ago and er my cousin had just left and she told me.umm a story about the Giant Spider invasion. Well anyways, we went to sleep and she closed her door and I can't stand the door closed at night, so I was scared. And at about midnight, you know her brother came in . . . and like he'd seen the movie when it was playing here, and he, like he, started saying all these scary things and tape recordings and um (cough) he put his hand you know like this - you know like (hesitatingly) in a monster-way and each time the flashlight turned on it, it looked like a giant spider and I was really really scared and I pulled the sleeping bag over me - we were sleeping in sleeping bags. And he stood there yet and I didn't know what was happening so I felt over to see if Janie was still there and you know she had rolled over and like I couldn't feel her. I thought "Oh n-no! The spider has got her. There's no, there's nothing left of her any more." So I felt in her sleeping bag (laughing) I felt around and then I felt her and I said "Wake up! Wake up!" And we got enough courage and we got up to see what it was. You know then we saw him - we saw her brother running down the hall and we really knew - we were really mad at him and we went in, and we went over and we were chasing him around the house. And um ---

h --- her mum and ded weke up, get up because of the noise? And Janie said, "Hell um, Rob's bugging us. He's scaring us and we went to his room and he's pretending to be asleep." He was asleep: So we thought, you know, oh ne!, you know, that, could that have been the real thing? And so we went back to bed. And then he came up again. Except like he had got this skeleton thing - umm one of those funny skeletons? - and he stuck it in the room. And he said "Hey you guys! Come here!" and when you opened the door there was this skeleton standing right face to face with us. And we were so scared. You know how that feels?

(Audience: Ooh!)

Just scary! So anyways, we like, we umm pushed it out of the way and we were chasing him - around the house 'cos you know he wouldn't pretend he was g - he was asleep. And so I was chasing him and Janie went to get her mum and dad to find out it was all a trick and stuff.

It's pretty funny after a while. It still makes me - you know - gives me goose pimples when I, you know, still think about it. Like right now I'm all shaking 'cos it's really scary!

#### ANDIENCE: GRADE

I'm going to tell you about the time Fillent to my friend Janie's and I got scored to death by her brother.

(Loughs from both)

Yee. like up my causin had just - you know - left our house er it's about a menth ego and she told me you know about this movie she'd seen called the Giant Spider Invasion. And us and I went over to Janie's house and we want to sleep and at about midnight her brother came in and started making all these spooky noises and um like he saw the movie cos like it was playing here. He saw the movie and um --- he put his hand like this and he started making these spider things and you know we were screaming and everything and I was throwing the sleeping bag over me - cos we were sleeping in sleeping bags - and --- um um --- I felt over to see if Janie was there, I couldn't feel her. I thought "Oh no! You know, they've got her." And I felt, and I felt some more and you know she was in there. And so we started got, we got up and thought and we saw who it was you know and it was him. We started chasing around --- um ---Her mother and father got up! He pretended he was still asleep! He thought "Oh no!" I thought, "Oh no! Could that be the real thing?" And so we went back to bed. And a little while after he came and he started doing the same thing.

(*hm*!)

and he said "Come here you guys!" - like he had this skeleton and he put it right in front of the door

(**h**m!)

Like, you know, one of these for experiments?

(Yea!)

Well he put it right by the deer and we ware coming out, we saw it and we were face to face with it, 'you know, we ware real seared, we were screening and everything. And we you have, it were, i'w thinking "Oh no! You know, is this searchedy or whetever." We were coming and we sag him just running down the hell. Their man and dad get up again! And, you know, we find out that it was him and --- and it just scared me half to death when I think about it -- How scary it was.

# AUDIENCE: ADULT

ſ

Umm, well I went to my like - this all happened about a month ago. I went to my friend Janie's house --- my cousin had just left from my house and she told me about this movie she had seen, called The Giant Spider Invasion and umm Janie's brother had seen that movie. He had an idea to scare me — us. And so we went to bed and about midnight we woke up cos there were all these scary noises we could hear and --- and --- he opened the door and made a big huge spider shadow. And then I was peaching over to see if Janie was there and she wasn't — like 4 couldn't feel her and I thought "Oh no, you know" "Could the spider have gotten her?" And so you know I felt some more and I felt her so you know we were really scared and J pulled the er - you know - sleeping bag over me. And we went and we saw her brother running down the hall. "And so um and her mum and dad woke up and he pretended he was still asleep! And we went back to bed and I thought to myself "Oh" you know "Could that really have been the real thing?" So we went to bed again and a little while later he did the same thing. Like he had one of these experimental skeletons, you know, he put it in the doorway and said "Come and get me girls" and we went and we were face to face with this skeleton. And you, you know w-we were real scared and Janie went to get her mum and dad to find out it was all a trick. And I get me goose pimples just thinking about it and everything. When I think about it I - you know - it makes me think you know um wouldn't it be really scary if it was the real thing? You'd get goose pimples all over you.